COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

and

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES

LOCAL 3338 (S.F.U.)

April 1, 1997 to March 31, 1999

H 39/8/2 09

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	CLE 1 - PURPOSE	
1.01 1.02	Purpose of Agreement	1
1.02	No Conflicting Agreement	٠
ARTI(CLE 2 - DEFINITIONS	1
2.01	Employees	1
2.02	Time	2
ARTI	CLE 3 -UNION RECOGNITION	2
ARTIC	CLE 4 - UNION SECURITY	2
4.01	No Discrimination for Union Activity	2
4.02	Membership Requirements	
4.03 4.04	Notification by the University	
4.05	Observation of Picket Lines	4
4.06	Reductions in the Workforce	5
۸ DTI	CLE 5 -CHECKOFF OF UNION DUES	_
5.01	Authorization for Checkoff	5 5
5.02	Deduction of Dues.	
5.03	Transmittal to Union	5
5.04	Year-End Statement of Members' Dues Deduction	6
ARTIC	CLE 6 - UNION/UNIVERSITY RELATIONS	6
6.01	Union Business	6
6.02	Union Communications	
6.03	Union Activity	6
ARTIO	CLE 7 - HUMAN RIGHTS	8
7.01	No Discrimination	8
7.02	Personal Rights Protected	9
7.03 7.04	Access to University Personnel Files	9
7.04	No Harassment	9
7.06	Employment Equity	11
A DTIC	CLE 8 - MANAGEMENTOF THE UNIVERSITY	
ARTIC	LE 8 - MANAGEMENTOF THE UNIVERSITY	1 1
ARTIC	CLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	11
9.01	Standing Labour/Management Committee	11
9.02 9.03	Grievances	
9.03	Standard Grievance Procedure	
9.05	Notice to Proceedto Arbitration	14
9.06	General Agreements	14
ΔΡΤΙΟ	CLE 10 - ARBITRATION	15
	Standard Arbitration	
	Expedited Arbitration	
A DTIC	CLE 11 - SUSPENSION, TERMINATION, RESIGNATION	
	DefinitionDefinition	
11.02	Progressive Discipline	17
11.03	Suspension	17
I1.04	Termination	!7
11.05	Notice of Resignation	19
11.07	Wages and Benefits on Termination	19
11.08	Satisfactory Evidence	19
11.09	Reinstatement	19

ARTICLE 12 -SENIORITY 12.01 Definition	.19
12.02 Computation of Seniority	.20
12.03 Accrual and Maintenance of Seniority	.20
12.04 Loss of Seniority	
12.06 Seniority Restored	21
ARTICLE 13 - VACANCIES, PROMOTIONS, PROBATION, TRANSFERS, DEMOTIONS	.21
13.01 Employment Priority	.21
13.02 Job Postings	.22
13.03 Promotion	23
12 05 Domotion	23
13.06 Salary Adjustment	24
13.08 Status Upon Movement to Temporary Position	24
13.09 Transfer Outside the Bargaining Unit	.25
13.10 Trial Period	.25
13.11 Probationary Period	.20
ARTICLE 14 - INVOLUNTARYTRANSFER. LAYOFF AND RECALL	26
14.01 Definitions	26
14.02 Notice of Intentto Layoff	26
14.04 Movement into a Temporary Position	.28
14,05 Involuntary Transfer and Laid Off Notice	.28
14.06 Salary on Involuntary Transfer	28
14 08 Notice of Recall	.29
14.09 Salary of Recalled Employee	.29
ARTICLE 15 - JOB DESCRIPTIONS	29
15.01 University to Provide	29
15.02 Changes in Job Descriptions	
15.04 Job Descriptions Documentation	.31
ARTICLE 16 - JOB SPLITTING	.31
16.02 Eligibility to Participate as Non-Incumbent	.32
16.03 Temporary Absences	.32
16.05 Benefitsor Pay In Lieu	32
ARTICLE 17 - JOB RE-EVALUATIONAND RECLASSIFICATION	
17.01 Definition	32
17.03 Requests for Re-evaluation	.33
17.04 Notification of Disposition	
17.05 Documents Distribution	34
17.07 No Probationary Period	34
17.08 Salary Increase 17.09 Re-evaluation Appeals	34
17,10 Anomalies	.35
17.11 Employee Eligibility	35
17.12 WJQ (Custom) and Pay Equity	35
ARTICLE 18 - BONDING	35
18.01 Arrangements	35
18.02 Bonding Pre-Condition on New Employees	36

18.03 Determination Prior to Transfer or Promotion	.36 .36		
ARTICLE 19 -CONTRACTING OUT	.36		
ARTICLE 20 - USE OF UNIVERSITY FACILITIES	.36 .36 .37 .37		
ARTICLE 21 - ATTENDANCE AT UNIVERSITY FUNCTIONS	.37		
ARTICLE 22 - EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT. 22.01 Development	.37 .37 .38		
ARTICLE 23 • TUITION WAIVER	.38 .39		
ARTICLE 24 - HOURS OF WORK	.39 .39		
ARTICLE 25 • OVERTIME	.41 .41 .41 .42 .42 .42 .42 .42		
ARTICLE 26 - SHIFTS AND SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS	.43 .43 .44 .44 .44		
ARTICLE 27 - EMPLOYEES WHO INSTRUCT44			
ARTICLE 28 - CAR POOLS AND OTHER TRANSPORTATION28.01 Public Transportation Not Available after Overtime or Call Out	45 45		

28.02 Scheduling Regular Shifts	45		
ARTICLE 29 - PARKING	45		
ARTICLE 30 -MEAL PERIODS	46		
ARTICLE 31 • RELIEF PERIODS (COFFEE BREAKS)	46		
ARTICLE 32 - PAID HOLIDAYS	46 47 47 47		
ARTICLE 33 -OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY CLOSURE			
ARTICLE 34 - ANNUAL VACATIONS	48		
34.03 Vacation Schedule for Subsequent Years	48 49		
34.08 Vacation Schedule	49		
34.09 Vacation Pay on Retirement	50		
34.12 No Termination, Layoff or Loss of Seniority	51		
ARTICLE 35 - SICK LEAVE	51		
35.02 Entitlement	51		
35.03 Casual Illness, 35.04 Extended Absence.	52		
35.05 Claim for Benefit	52 52		
35.07 Chronic Absence	52		
35.08 Medical Examinations and Certificates	53		
35.10 Quarantine	53		
35.12 Medical and Dental Appointments	53		
S5.12 Medical and Dental Appointments S5.13 Long Term Absences - Continuing Part-Time Employees Not Eligible for L.T.D. Insurance S5.14 Long Term Absences - Continuing Employees Eligible for L.T.D. Insurance	53		
35.15 Return to Work Following Long Term Absence	54		
ARTICLE 36 - MATERNITY OR PARENTALLEAVE56			
36.01 Length of Leave	56		
36.03 Return to Work	57		
36.04 Sick Leave			

36.06 Reimbursement Following Return to Work
ARTICLE 37 • DAY CARE58
AARTICLE 38 - COMPASSIONATELEAVE 58 38.01 Definition 58 38.02 Employee Eligibility 58
ARTICLE 39 • ELECTIONS59
ARTICLE 40 -COURT DUTY 59 40.01 Witness or Jury Duty 59 40.02 Civil Suit 59 40.03 Court Proceedings Against an Employee 59
ARTICLE 41 -CHANGE OF DOMICILE59
ARTICLE 42 - SENATE OR BOARD OF GOVERNORS APPOINTMENTS60
ARTICLE 43 - PERSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT PAY60
ARTICLE 44 - EXTENDED LEAVE WITHOUT PAY
ARTICLE 45 • PURCHASEAND MAINTENANCE OF FURNITUREAND EQUIPMENT61
ARTICLE 46 - SAFETY AND WORKING CONDITIONS
ARTICLE 47 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT
ARTICLE 48 - TECHNOLOGICALCHANGE
ARTICLE 49 -ARTICLE HEADINGS66
ARTICLE 50 • OFF CAMPUS DUTY
ARTICLE 51 - BENEFIT PLANS

51.04 Long Term Disability and Life Insurance Plans 69 51.05 Pension Plans 69 51.06 Workers' Compensation 70 51.07 Employment Insurance 70 51.08 Master Agreements 70 51.09 Joint Benefits Committee 70 51.10 Benefit Statements 71 51.11 Liability Insurance 71 51.12 Employee and Family Assistance Plan 71			
ARTICLE 52 -TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND PAY INLIEU OF BENEFITS			
ARTICLE 53 - PAYMENTOF WAGES AND WAGE RATES			
ARTICLE 54 - TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT 72 54,01 Effective Dates and Duration of Agreement 72 54.02 Changes During Duration of Agreement 72 54.03 Amendment to Agreement 72			
ARTICLE 55 • FINANCIAL INFORMATION72			
APPENDIX A - Salary Grades and Classifications73			
APPENDIX A-1 - WJQ Salary Schedule, November 30, 199775			
APPENDIX A-2 - WJQ Salary Schedule, March 31, 199976			
APPENDIX A-3 - Salary Schedule for Anomalized Positions, November 30, 199777			
APPENDIX A-4 - Salary Schedule for Anomalized Positions, March 31, 199978			
APPENDIX B - Step Two Union Grievance Form79			
APPENDIX C -Animal Care Facility Position80			
APPENDIX D • WJQ (Custom) and Pay Equity81			
APPENDIX E • APSA Job Descriptions86			
APPENDIX F (NEW) - Committee on Deferred Salary Leave Plan87			
APPENDIX G (NEW) - APSA Positions Review88			
APPENDIX # (NEW) - Dental Plan90			
APPENDIX I (NEW) -Absenteeism Review Committee91			
APPENDIX J (NEW) - Union Requests For Information92			
APPENDIX K (NEW) - Short Term Inter and Intra Departmental Transfers93			
APPENDIX L (NEW) - Hours of Work95			
APPENDIX M (NEW) - WCB (Art 51.06)96			
APPENDIX N (NEW) - General Agreements97			

APPENDIX Q (NEW)- WJQ Concerns	99
APPENDIX P (NEW) - LTD Appeal Process	100
WITNESS	102
INDEX	104

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE

1.01 Purpose of Agreement

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish and maintain mutually satisfactory working conditions, wages and benefits for the employees, to maintain collective bargaining relations between the University and the Union and to provide machinery for the prompt and equitable disposition of disputes.

1.02 No Conflicting Agreement

No employee shall make any written or verbal contract which may conflict with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS

2.01 Employees

- (a) Employee: The term "employee" shall mean any person employed by the University whose position is included in the Union by:
 - (i) the certification granted to the Union by the Labour Relations Board of British Columbia; or
 - (ii) any decision by the Labour Relations Board of British Columbia that alters the original certification granted to the Union.
- (b) Continuing Employee: A continuing employee shall mean an employee hired with no predetermined termination date.
- (c) Temporary Employees: A temporary employee is an employee hired with a predetermined termination date. If temporary employment continues for longer than four (4) months of continuous employment in the same position, the employee shall be considered a "continuing employee." The benefits and pay in lieu of benefits for temporary employees will be as per Article 52.

Change(s) in position number or minor changes in job duties shall not be considered a change in position for the purpose of the definition of "continuing employee."

No full-time position shall be filled for a period of more than four (4) months by terminating and rehirin the same temporary employee, or by terminating and firing a series of temporary employees.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, in special cases, a temporary non-recurring full-time or part-time position may be created for a period of more than four (4) months but no more than eight (8) months. Job postings for such positions shall state the predetermined termination date. The Union shall be given a written

explanation of the special circumstances of each such case. Employees filling such positions will become continuing employees after four (4) months as outlined above. However, such an employee will not be eligible for involuntary transfer upon reaching her/his predetermined termination date, but she/he will be placed on the laid off list, and if the position is reopened, the employee shall be recalled to that position as outlined in Article 14.

510/25

(d) Full-Time Employee: A full-time employee shall mean an employee whose work week averages 35 hours (excluding overtime). (Includes continuing and temporary employees.)

2,4 N)

(e) Part-Time Employee: A part-time employee shall mean an employee whose work week averages less than 35 hours (excluding overtime). (Includes continuing and temporary employees.)

2.02 Time

- (a) "Day" shall be the period from 0001 hours to 2400 hours.
- (b) "Week" shall be the period of time from 0001 hours Monday to 2400 hours the following Sunday.
- (c) "Bi-weekly period" shall be a period of time consisting of two (2) consecutive calendar weeks.
- (d) "Month" shall mean a calendar month.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION

The Union is the sole bargaining authority for all employees of the University for which the Union is certified under the Labour Code of British Columbia.

ARTICLE 4 - UNION SECURITY

4.01 No Discrimination for Union Activity

There shall be no discrimination against or intimidation of any employee for reasons of union membership or union activity, or for the exercise of **rights provided** for in this **agreement** or in the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia.

4.02 Membership Requirements

(a) Current Employees: Employees who were members of the Union on and after April 20, 1975 shall continue as members of the Union.

Employees who were members of the bargaining unit on April 20, 1975, but who were not members of the Union

on that date shall not be required to join the Union, but shall be required to pay any dues, fees or assessments to the Union.

1.10)3

- (b) New Employees: Employees hired after April 20, 1975 shall become Union members within two (2) weeks of their date of hire, and shall maintain membership in the Union throughout their employment.
- (c) The Union shall not, without good and sufficient cause, refuse an employee applying for membership, nor **suspend** and expel from membership any member without cause.

4.03 Notification by the University

The University agrees to notify the Union, by electronic mail or data transfer where practicable, or else in writing, within five (5) working days, of the name, position and location of each employee who resigns or is hired, promoted, transferred, laid off, recalled, suspended or terminated.

4.04 Union Representatives

- (a) Recognition: The University recognizes Stewards and other Union representatives selected by the Union for the purpose of representing employees on matters pertaining to these Articles of Agreement, and shall not discriminate against such representatives for carrying out the duties proper to their position. Shop Stewards shall be selected from members of the bargaining unit.
- (b) Limitation: The number of Stewards recognized by the University shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the employees at any one time.
- (c) Notification: The Union will provide the Human Resources department with a minimum of 1 week's notice of the appointment or election of an employee to any Union representative position prior to the representative performing any duties on behalf of the Union. The notification will identify the position or duty which the employee will be undertaking. If such notice is not received by Human Resources, the employee will not be given recognition as a Union representative. The one week notice period may be reduced by mutual agreement between the parties. Within one week after an employee ceases to be a Union representative, the Union shall notify Human Resources about the change in status.
 - (d) Responsibility: Stewards shall be granted reasonable time during regular working hours to perform their duties within their unit, without loss of pay. Such granting shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 - (e) Where the required arrangements have been made for time off during working hours to perform Union duties, such time off shall be given without loss of pay for:

- (i) stewards to perform their duties within the unit in which they work in accordance with 4.04(d) above or in another unit at the same work site if the local steward is not available;
- (ii) Union representatives who are members of a /joint committee to attend any joint meetings of their committee provided that the committee was established in order to comply with the terms of this collective agreement or was established by the University through the Director, Human Resources or his designate;
 - (iii) any Union representative to attend a joint meeting requested by either party and agreed to by the Director, Human Resources or his designate and a member of the Union Executive (excluding contract negotiations meetings which are governed by Article 6.03(g) and grievance/arbitration meetings/proceedings which are governed by Articles 9 and 10);
 - (iv) any Union representative to attend a joint meeting for consultations required under this collective agreement;
 - (v) a Union representative to meet with new employees in accordance with Article 6.03(a) provided that the meeting is at the work site where the Union representative works; and
 - (vi) any other situation where time off without loss of pay is specified in this collective agreement.

4.05 Observation of Picket Lines

- (a) Observation No Breach: Failure of an employee to cross an established picket line shall not be considered a breach of this Agreement. No employee shall be discriminated against for her/his failure to cross an established picket line. Employees who observe picket lines shall be recorded as being absent without pay.
- (b) Other Bona Fide Picket Lines: Where the picket line is a result of actions of persons other than the C.U.P.E. Local 3338 members, the C.U.P.E. Executive will advise the University whether or not they regard the picket line which has been set up as a bona fide picket line.
- (c) C.U.P.E. Authorized Picket Lines: When a Union authorized picket line is to be set up, the University will be provided with a statement, giving the location, and reasons for the picket line.
- (d) Insured Benefit Premiums: During the observation of picket lines, both the employee and University premium contributions to all insured benefit plans shall be paid by the University. Upon return to work, the employee shall reimburse the University for the entire amount of



employee and University premium contributions by payroll deduction over the number of pay periods equal to the number of months and/or part of a month that the employee honoured the picket line.

(e) Validitions for Illness or Injury: During the ovation of picket lines, the Sick Leave provisions are suspended. If during the observation of picket lines, the wenty-six (26) week qualifying period for Long Term Disability is met, the employee may apply for Long Term Disability benefits. If following the withdrawal of picket lines, an employee is unable to return to work due to illness or injury, the employee shall be entitled to the balance of paid sick leave which has not been used for that illness or injury in accordance with Article 35 provided that the employee has not applied for Long Term Disability benefits.

(f) Essential Services: Also, during such period, any essential services which are the subject of Letters of Understanding between the parties, will be maintained.

4.06 Reductions in the Workforce

The University will not reduce the workforce, through layoff or attrition, without a corresponding reduction in the workload, except in those cases where the parties to the Agreement have discussed the proposed reduction.

In the event that the workforce is being reduced, the University will provide the Union with advance written notice of any services or functions that will be discontinued.

ARTICLE 5 - CHECKOFF OF UNION DUES

5.01 Authorization for Checkoff

All employees will be required to sign an authorization for dues and assessments deductions. A copy of this authorization will be sent to the Union.

5.02 Deduction of Dues

The University shall deduct Union dues and assessments bi-weekly.

5.03 Transmittal to Union

Before the fourth (4th) working day of each month, the University will forward the collected dues, by cheque, to the Treasurer of the Union, together with a detailed list of names, <u>home</u> addresses, Social Insurance Numbers, departments and amounts deducted.

5.04 Year-End Statement of Members' Dues Deduction

T-4 income tax forms issued to employees will include the amount of Union dues deducted in the previous calendar year.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION/UNIVERSITY RELATIONS

6.01 Union Business

Union business shall not be conducted on **employees**' scheduled working time, except as otherwise **provided** for herein.

6.02 Union Communications

The University will provide the following of its facilities to assist the Union with communications and the conduct of its business.

- (a) Duplicating services at cost.
- (b) Rooms for meetings at cost subject to the same conditions as other on-campus organization users.
- (c) Bulletin Boards: Fifteen boards for conveying information on the business affairs of the Union.
- (d) Paid Time Off for Meetings: When the University and the Union agree that such would be of mutual benefit, paid two (2) hour meetings during working hours will be arranged for the membership.
- (e) Campus Mail: The Union shall have the right to communicate with its members through campus mail, except for bulk mail items, and through electronic mail.

6.03 Union Activity

- (a) New Employee Information Meetings: The University agrees that a Union representative shall be allowed approximately one (1) hour to meet with new employees to explain the functions of the Union and sign new employees into the Union. This meeting will be held after the normal weekly benefits orientation meeting provided for new employees by the University.
- (b) Executive Contacting Members at Work: Members of the local Union Executive, on matters respecting this Agreement or its administration, shall have the right:
 - (i) to make a reasonable number of phone calls and electronic messages to employees at work.
 - (ii) to confer privately with employees during working hours, providing they have made prior arrangements with their respective supervisors.

- (c) Representatives or other advisors chosen by the Union shall have access to University premises in order to meet with Union and or University representatives. Meetings with Union Representatives during working hours are subject to prior arrangements being made with the respective supervisor. Meetings with University representatives must be arranged in advance with the Director of Human Resources or his delegate.
- (d) Leave of Absence for Union Office: An employee who is elected by the Local or selected by the Local to a full-time position with Local 3338 shall be granted leave of absence provided:
 - The leave is requested by the Local in writin . Such request shall be made at least thirty (38) working days before the start of the leave to permit the employer to employ a suitable replacement.
 - (ii) The Local shall request in writing each year a renewal of such leave at least thirty (30) working days prior to the expiration of the leave.
 - It is understood the employee may return to her/his former position upon completion of her/his term of office.

(iv) An employee on leave under this Article 6.03(d), shall receive pay and benefits as provided 6.03(d), shall receive pay and benefits as provided for in this Agreement. The Union shall reimburse the employer monthly for all costs.

> The employee affected by the return to work of the employee on Union leave shall be placed on the laid off list.

It is **agreed** that any employee who is elected or selected to a **full-time** position with anybody with which the Union is affiliated, shall be granted leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority calculated to the date of leaving for a period u to one year. An employee must request such leave at feast thirty (30) working days prior to the start of the leave. Such leave may be renewed each year on request during his or her term of office. The employee upon completion of the leave shall be placed on the laid off list. It is agreed that any employee who is elected or selected

(e) Short Term Leave for Union Business: The University agrees to grant representatives of the Union leave of absence to attend union conventions or to perform other functions on behalf of the Union, in accordance with the provisions of

Employees may make requests for short term leave for union business, and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Such requests should be made as far in advance as possible, however it is understood that

11114,

in cases of emergency, advance notice may not be possible.

The Union will be charged for salary maintenance of its representatives.

- (f) Union Office: The University will endeavour to provide suitable office space for rental to the Union.
- (g) Time Off for Contract Negotiations: The University shall permit time off from work for a reasonable number of negotiators on the Union negotiating team. Such time will include one-half (1/2) hour before and one-half (1/2) hour after actual negotiating time for Union caucus. The time spent negotiating shall be during the hours of 0900 to 1600 Monday through Friday, unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the University and the Union. The Union will be charged for salary maintenance of their negotiators. The University agrees to credit the Union at two (2) times the average hourly wage of those present, for each hour of negotiations during working hours.
- (h) Union Meetings: Once each semester members may take two (2) hours off without pay from 1430 to 1630 for the sole purpose of attending a Union meeting.

In addition, once during each calendar year the Union has the right to arrange a two (2) hour lunch-time general membership meeting. The two (2) hours shall include the meal break period for all employees who attend and the remaining time off work for this meeting shall be without loss of pay. Where it is necessary to keep departments open during this period, special arrangements will be made upon mutual consent of the department head and Steward involved.

(i) No Contravening Policies: The University shall not issue any policies or procedures affecting the Union, or Union membership which contravene these Articles of Agreement. A current copy of Administrative Policy and Procedures, and AD updates as issued, will be supplied to the Union office.

ARTICLE 7 - HUMAN RIGHTS

7.01 No Discrimination

The University and the Union agree that there will be no discrimination against any employee or prospective employee, by reason of race, colour, creed, disability, national origin, political or religious affiliation, sex, marital status, age, sexual preference or whether she/he has dependents or not. In particular, that there shall be no such discrimination in times of hiring, promotion, wages, discipline, dismissal, or any other conditions of employment.

7.02 Personal Rights Protected

- (a) Any requirements made of an employee shall be limited to matters concerning the work of the employee and shall be stated in the job description. Such requirements shall not be contrary to the Articles of this Agreement.
- (b) An employee shall have the right to the presence of a Union representative at any interview. or confrontation. relating to any part of this Agreement.
- (c) Notwithstanding the above, an employee may, without a Steward, discuss any matter with their supervisor. Such discussions shall be without prejudice.

7.03 Access to University Personnel Files

Each employee shall, upon giving reasonable notice, have access to files compiled by the University and/or its officers, where these files relate to the individual's employment. The employee shall have the right to add written comment to any document, and further shall be provided with photocopies of any documents upon request. The employee shall be responsible for the actual minimum costs of the photocopies.

7.04 Adverse Reports

Within thirty (30) working days of generation or receipt, the University shall inform an employee in writing of any internal or external written reports which express dissatisfaction with the employee's work performance.

If this procedure is not followed, the report shall not become a part of the employee's record for use against her/him in regard to termination, suspension, discipline, promotion, involuntary transfer, or any other related matters.

All such reports must be copied to the employee's file in Human Resources and be available to the employee. Any employee so affected shall be given the opportunity to reply in writing, and/or have recourse through the grievance procedure. If successfully grieved, said reports will be removed from the file and/or files.

On the request of an employee, an adverse report shall be removed from the employee's file in Human Resources, provided that thirty-six (36) months have elapsed since the issuance of the report and no other adverse reports have been received.

7.05 No Harassment

(a) The Union and the University recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from harassment.

- (b) Within the limits of its jurisdiction the University undertakes to discipline any person employed by the University who engages in the harassment of an employee while she/he is on campus or elsewhere to fulfill her/his duties or responsibilities as an employee.
- (c) Where a non-employee is alleged to have engaged in the harassment of an employee while the employee is on campus or elsewhere to fulfill her/his duties or responsibilities as an employee, the University will undertake to investigate the incident. Following the investigation, the University shall take such actions as it deems appropriate to resolve the problem. Where the investigation was initiated by an employee's complaint, the University shall inform the employee of any actions taken.
- (d) Harassment is defined as objectionable conduct or comment directed towards a specific person(s), which serves no legitimate work purpose, and which would be considered by a reasonable person to create an intimidating, humiliating, hostile or offensive work environment.

Discipline will not be considered harassment under this Article 7.05.

- (e) Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favours, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature that is known or ought reasonably to be known as unwelcome, when:
 - (i) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment;
 - (ii) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individuals; or
 - (iii) such conduct is persistent and/or has the effect of interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or defensive working environment.
- (f) When an employee has a harassment complaint and is seeking University action under (b) above, the complaint shall be raised with her/his own supervisor or the alleged harasser's supervisor within twenty (20) working days of the incident or awareness of the condition giving rise to the complaint. If the complaint is not settled within five (5) working days and the employee wishes to proceed with the complaint she/he shall submit it in writin to the Director, Human Resources within a further five (5) working days and shall provide a copy to the supervisor with whom the complaint has already been raised and to the alleged harasser. The Director, Human Resources will notify the complainant in writing, within five (5) working days, of any determinations and actions being taken as a

1.3971

result of the complaint. If the employee believes she/he was harassed and the University elected not to discipline the alleged harasser, the employee may pursue the matter as a grievance.

Within thirty (30) working days of the receipt of the written notification from the Director, Human Resources a written copy of the harassment grievance including the details outlined in (al. (b) and (c) of the Step Two in article 9.04 will be submitted by the Union to the Director. Human Resources.

Within fifteen (15) working days of the written submission of the harassment grievance to the Director, Human Resources, the Labour/Management Committee shall convene and shall have fifteen (15) working days to attempt a resolution of the grievance.

The alleged harasser shall have the right to attend all joint grievance meetings and to be represented if she/he so

(g) The University, where circumstances or a medical evaluation warrant it, shall permit a complainant and the alleged harasser to limit or discontinue contact without incurring any penalty pending determination of the complaint or grievance. An employee who is a complainant or an alleged harasser will not be transferred against her/his will.

7.06 Employment Equity

The University and the Union are committed to Employment Equity and furthering the progress of the University's Employment Equity program.

The Employment Equity program will not abrogate collective agreement provisions between the University and the Union.

The Union shall have a representative on the University's Employment Equity Advisory Committee.

ARTICLE8 - MANAGEMENT OF THE UNIVERSITY

the management and direction of the working force is vested exclusively in the University except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

9.01 Standing Labour/Management Committee

The University shall appoint and maintain a committee to be called the Labour Committee, one member of which shall be designated as chairperson. The University shall at all times keep the Union informed as to the individual

membership of the committee. The Union shall maintain a Grievance Committee, one member of which shall be designated as chairperson. The Union shall at all times keep the University informed as to the individual membership of the committee. The two (2) parties shall together constitute a standing Labour/Management Committee which shall convene at the request of either party.

3216

The purpose of the Labour/Management Committee shall be to discuss and attempt to settle any policy grievance, or any difference of opinion, or matters of mutual concern between the parties. Policy grievances shall be introduced to such meetings only after the Policy Grievance Procedure has been followed.

9.02 Grievances

- (a) Definition: For the purpose of this Agreement, "grievance" shall mean any difference or dispute arising between the parties to this Agreement, concerning the interpretation, application, administration, operation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement; whether between the University and any employee bound by this Agreement or between the University and the Union.
- (b) No Contravening Resolution: A resolution of a grievance shall not contravene the conditions of the Articles of this Agreement nor amend this Agreement.
- (c) Arbitrable Issues: Any issue not resolved through the Grievance Procedures shall be a matter for Arbitration.
- (d) No Stoppage of Work: Such Grievances shall be resolved, without stoppage of work, as outlined in the Grievance Procedures.
- (e) Absence of Supervisor: In the event that the supervisor responsible for dealing with the grievance is absent, the University will appoint an alternative officer to handle the supervisor's responsibilities as outlined in the Standard Grievance Procedure.
- If the supervisor or the grievor is absent from the University for more than five (5) working days and is likely to be absent for a longer period, the University and the Union shall consult together to determine a course of action to continue the grievance.
- (f) Technical Errors: No grievance shall be defeated merely because of a technical error in processing the grievance (e.g. wrong date, wrong article(s) cited, misspelling, etc.). If a technical error is discovered during the Grievance Procedure, the error may be corrected and the grievance will proceed.
- (g) Amendments: Reasonable amendments mutually agreed upon in writing may be allowed at any step, the

intent being that matters in dispute be dealt with in a fair and equitable manner.

9.03 Policy Grievance Procedure

A grievance involving more than one (1) employee in more than one (1) department shall be considered a policy grievance. Within thirty (30) working days of an employee's or a Union representative's awareness that a grievable condition exists, whichever occurs first, a written copy of the policy grievance including the details outlined in (a), (b) and (c) of Step Two in 9.04 below will be submitted by the Union to the Director, Human Resources.

Within fifteen (15) working days of the written submission of the policy grievance to the Director, Human ., Resources, the Labour/Management Committee shall convene and shall have fifteen (15) working days to attempt a resolution of the grievance.

9.04 Standard Grievance Procedure

STEP ONE

A grievance may be initiated at any time after the employee becomes aware that a grievable condition exists, up until thirty (30) working days from the day of awareness.

An employee who has a grievance or her/his representative shall request a Step One grievance meeting with the supervisor directly in charge of the work. The employee must be accompanied by her/his Shop Steward or a Union representative at the Step One meeting. The parties involved shall have three (3) working days in which to resolve the grievance. If the grievance is not resolved in the aforementioned time period, Step One shall be considered complete.

STEP TWO

Within three (3) working days of completion of Step One, the aggrieved party and her/his Shop Steward or a Union representative shall submit written copies of the Grievance to the supervisor's supervisor (hereafter referred to as the University officer in this Article 9), the supervisor, and the Manager. Employee Relations in Human Resources.

The Union will provide a form called the Grievance Form (see Appendix B) for this purpose. The formal grievance shall include:

- (a) a description of the grievance and the incident from which the grievance arose;
- (b) an indication of the Article(s) concerned or alleged to have been violated, or difference of opinion;

- (c) the suggested appropriate remedy; and
- (d) the date and time of the step one meeting and the participants.

Within three (3) working days of the submission of the written grievance, the Shop Steward or Union representative will contact the University Officer, the supervisor, and the Manager, Employee Relations to schedule a meeting which will take place within ten (10) working days of the submission of the written grievance. The meeting will normally be attended by the employee, the Shop Steward, the Division Steward or Union representative, the supervisor, the University officer, and the Manager. Employee Relations or another representative from Human Resources. A Union representative may substitute for either the Shop Steward or the Division Steward.

Within three (3) workin days following the step two meeting, the University officer will provide the employee with a written response to the grievance. Copies of the response to the grievance will also be provided to the Shop Steward, the Division Steward or Union Representative, the Union office, the supervisor, and the Manager, Employee Relations in Human Resources. Step two is complete when the response from the University officer is provided to the employee or fourteen (14) working days following the completion of step one, whichever occurs first.

9.05 Notice to Proceed to Arbitration

Failing resolution of the grievance within the appropriate grievance procedure, either party shall have ten (10) working days to give written notice to proceed to Arbitration.

9.06 General Agreements

(a) Time Limits: The time limits prescribed for the performance of any act in the Grievance Procedure may be altered by mutual written consent of both parties and with the understanding that all time periods prescribed exclude weekends and statutory holidays.

Abandonment of grievance: If a grievance has been submitted in writing and the Union allows any of the above specified time periods to lapse without proceeding further, the grievance will be considered abandoned.

(b) Time Off to Attend: An employee shall be permitted time off with pay to attend to the adjustment of a grievance and to be present at each step of a grievance concerning that employee; whether as a grievor, witness, or Union representative. It is understood that the employee shall attend to the adjustment of a grievance only when required. The employee shall notify her/his supervisor following the conditions stated in Article

- 6.03(b). In the event that the supervisor is absent, the employee shall notify the appropriate alternate.
- (c) Retroactive Settlements: Grievance settlements shall be applied retroactively to the date of the incident giving rise to the grievance.
- (d) Union representative shall mean a bona fide member of the C.U.P.E. Local 3338 Union.

ARTICLE 10 - ARBITRATION

10.01 Standard Arbitration

(a) Within ten (10) working days following the notice to proceed to Arbitration, the parties shall select an arbitrator. In the event that the University and the Union are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within the ten (10) working days, the parties may mutually agree to extend the time limit for the selection of an arbitrator or either party may make application to the British Columbia Minister of Labour to appoint an arbitrator.

An arbitrator shall convene a hearing as soon as possible following her/his appointment.

- (b) An Arbitrator shall settle the dispute within twenty (20) working days and her/his decision shall be binding upon both parties. This time period may be waived with the mutual consent of the parties and/or the Arbitrator.
- (c) Both parties of the Arbitration shall pay one-half (1/2) of the expenses of the Arbitrator.
- (d) An Arbitrator shall not make any award or decision contrary to the conditions of this Agreement, or amend this Agreement.
- (e) Employees shall be permitted time off to attend Arbitration proceedings that they are directly involved in; whether as a grievor, witness, or Union representative. The employee shall notify her/his supervisor following the conditions stated in Article 6.03(e). In the event that the supervisor is absent, the employee shall notify the appropriate alternate. The University agrees to maintain salaries for the grievor and one Union representative.

10.02 Expedited Arbitration



- (a) The parties shall determine by mutual agreement those grievances which are suitable for expedited arbitration. The expedited arbitration process shall be as outlined in 10.02 (b) through (k) below.
- (b) Those grievances agreed to be suitable for expedited arbitration shall be scheduled within one (1) month of the agreement to utilize the expedited process.

- (c) The location of the hearing is to be agreed to between the parties.
- (d) All presentations are to be short and concise and are to include a comprehensive opening statement. The parties agree to make limited use of authorities during their presentations.
- (e) Prior to rendering a decision, the arbitrator may assist the parties in mediating a resolution to the grievance. If this occurs, the cost will be borne in accordance with Section 103 of the Labour Relations Code. The process will be as specified in Section 103 as follows:
- If a difference arises between the parties relating to the dismissal, discipline or suspension of an employee, or to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, during the term of the collective agreement Judi Korbin, or a substitute agreed to by the parties, shall at the request of either party

 - (i) investigate the difference,
 (ii) define the issue in the difference, and
 (iii) make written recommendations to resolve the difference

within 30 days of the date of receipt of the request and, for those 30 days from that date, time does not run in respect of the grievance procedure.

- (f) Where mediation fails or is not appropriate, a decision will be rendered as contemplated herein and shall be binding on the parties.
- (g) The decision of the arbitrator is to be completed and mailed to the parties within ten (10) working days of the hearing.
- (h) The parties shall share equally the cost of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator.
- (i) The expedited arbitrator shall have the same powers and authority as an arbitrator established pursuant to Article 10.01 above.
- (j) All decisions of the arbitrator are to be limited in application to that particular dispute and are without prejudice. These decisions shall have no precedential value and shall not be referred to by either party in any subsequent proceeding.
- (k) The expedited arbitrators, who shall act as sole arbitrators, shall be Judi Korbin, Stephen Kelleher, David McPhillips, and Heather Laing. These arbitrators shall be assigned to cases on a rotating basis in the order in which they have been listed here. For each case, each party may decline the appointment of one arbitrator on the list.

When an arbitrator(s) is declined, the next arbitrator on the list will be assigned to the case.

ARTICLE 11 - SUSPENSION, TERMINATION, RESIGNATION

11.01 Definition

- (a) Termination: An involuntary ending of employment.
- (b) Resignation: A voluntary ending of employment.

11.02 Progressive Discipline

The value of progressive discipline with the aim σ being corrective in application, is recognized by both parties.

Except in cases of gross misconduct, discharge for just cause will be preceded in a progressive manner, dependent on the employee's length of service and work record, by some or all of the following; counseling, oral and or written warnings, suspensions and or demotions, which shall be documented.

Except in the case of gross misconduct, discharge will only occur after a written warning has been issued in the presence of an union representative.

All documents with respect to the discipline of an employee will be copied to the union.

11.03 Suspension

Suspension is a form of employee discipline and may be imposed for misconduct. Written notice will be given to the employee with a copy to the Union. A suspension shall not exceed five (5) days, and any employee suspended shall be returned to the position last held prior to the suspension.

No employee may be suspended except for a just and reasonable cause.

11.04 Termination

No employee may be terminated except for a just and reasonable cause. When an employee is to be terminated, she/he shall receive prior to the termination a letter giving notification and reason(s) for the termination. A copy of the notice shall be sent to the Union no later than the date that the employee is to receive the termination notice.

11.05 Notice or Pay in Lieu

(a) Continuing Employees Termination: Continuing employees who have passed their probationary period shall receive four (4) weeks' notice or four (4) weeks' pay in lieu of notice in the event of termination, except as

outlined in 11.05(e). No notice shall be required if termination is the result of gross misconduct.

- (b) Full-Time Temporary Employees Termination: A full-time temporary employee has a pre-determined termination date and where that date remains unchanged, or where the term of employment is two (2) weeks or less no notice or pay in lieu of notice of termination will be given. If the pre-determined period of employment is greater than two (2) weeks and less than six (6) weeks and is subsequently shortened, one (1) week notice or one (1) week pay in lieu of notice of termination will be given. If the pre-determined period of employment is six (6) weeks or more and is subsequently shortened, two (2) weeks' notice or two (2) weeks' pay in lieu of notice of termination will be given except in the circumstances outlined in 11.05(e). No notice shall be required if termination is the result of gross misconduct.
- (c) Part-Time Temporary Employees Termination: A part-time temporary employee has a pre-determined termination date and where that date remains unchanged, or where the term of employment is two (2) weeks or less no notice or pay in lieu of notice of termination will be given. If the pre determined period of employment is greater than two (2) weeks and less than ten (10) weeks and is subsequently shortened, one (1) week notice or one (1) week pay in lieu of notice will be given. If the pre-determined period of employment is ten (10) weeks or more and is subsequently shortened, two (2) weeks' notice or two (2) weeks' pay in lieu of notice of termination will be given except in the circumstances outlined in 11.05(e). No notice shall be required if termination is the result of gross misconduct.
- (d) Termination, Temporary Employees; Probationary Employees Termination: Where a probationary employee has worked two (2) weeks or less and is terminated, no notice of termination shall be given. Where a probationary employee has worked more than two (2) weeks but less than six (6) weeks, and is terminated, one (1) week notice or one (1) week pay in lieu of notice shall be given. Where a probationary employee has worked six (6) weeks or longer, and is terminated, two (2) weeks' notice of termination or two (2) weeks' pay in lieu of notice shall be given. No notice shall be required if termination is the result of gross misconduct.
- (e) Where an employee is temporarily replacing another employee who is absent in accordance with Article 35 and the pre-determined period of employment is greater than two (2) weeks but is subsequently shortened due to the return to work of the absent employee, then the employee in the temporary replacement position will be given as much notice as the University receives from the absent employee or one (1) week notice or one (1) week pay in lieu whichever is greater.

(f) Where an employee has been working other than a set number of hours per week, the amount to be paid out in lieu shall be based on the employee's average weekly earnings excluding overtime, calculated over a period of up to eight (8) weeks prior to the date of termination.

11.06 Notice of Resignation

If an employee resigns, notice will be given as far in advance as possible, but not less than ten (10) working days prior to the date of resignation. If ten (10) days notice is not given, the employee will be entitled to her/his vacation pay of five-sixths (516) of a day per month less any actual vacation she/he has taken, or the minimum legal entitlement (whichever is greater). In exceptional cases this requirement for notice may be waived. An employee who has submitted notice of resignation shall not normally take any vacation during the last ten (10) working days of the notice period. An employee who submits notice of resignation shall be entitled to retract her/his notice of resignation within three (3) working days from the date she/he tendered her/his resignation.

11.07 Wages and Benefits on Termination

In the case of termination or resignation, the employee shall receive all vacation entitlements and salary due to the date of termination. Wages, holiday pay and other monies due will be paid within six (6) days of the last day of employment of an employee who resigns, and on the last day of employment of an employee who is terminated.

11.08 Satisfactory Evidence

In all cases of **discipl**ine including termination, the University must **provide** satisfactory evidence of just cause.

11.09 Reinstatement

If, as a result of the Grievance Procedure, it is found that an employee has been terminated for unjust cause, that employee will be reinstated to her/his former position, or one of equal salary range, without loss of seniority, rank or benefits, and shall be compensated by the University for all wages lost retroactive to the date of termination.

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY

12.01 Definition

Seniority shall mean length of service with the University and shall be credited for all service prior to the certification of the bargaining unit as designated in Article 2, regardless of occupational change as provided for herein. Seniority shall operate on a bargaining unit wide basis.

12.02 Computation of Seniority



The seniority of part-time and temporary employees shall be determined on the basis of the number of months worked, i.e. 152 hours equals one (1) month. (Months determined by multiplying the number of hours in the work week by fifty-two (52), then dividing by twelve (12). This definition of month is to apply to the computation of seniority only.)

If employees move or wish to move to one of the other **groups** of employees as defined under Article 2.01, their total service time as recorded on the appropriate seniority list will be counted for seniority purposes.

12.03 Accrual and Maintenance of Seniority

- (a) For continuing full-time and part-time **employees**, seniority will accrue from the first day of **employment**, and be maintained, as provided for herein:
 - (i) during sickness, accident, or leaves of absence: seniority will continue to accrue during the first six (6) months of each case of absence from work due to sickness, accident, or approved leave of absence. Seniority shall accrue for all employees in the bargaining unit when the union is on strike, honouring a bona fide picket line or during any lockout;

(ii) during layoff seniority will continue to accrue during the first four (4) months of each case of absence from work due to layoff;

- (iii) during union office: seniority will continue to accrue for the duration of the leave of absence agreed to in Article 6.03(d);
- (iv) seniority maintenance: seniority shall be maintained unless, and until, lost as provided for in Section 12.04.
- (b) For temporary employees, seniority shall accrue and be maintained on a temporary employees' seniority list as provided for herein.
 - (i) Seniority will be credited from the first day of employment and for all subsequent periods of employment provided the break between periods of employment does not exceed twelve (12) months.
 - (ii) Once ualified, seniority will continue to accrue as **pr**ovided ?or in Article 12.03(a)(i), but in no case **beyond** the predetermined date of termination as defined in Article 2.01(c) or the date of resignation as outlined in 12.04(b).

(iii) Seniority shall be maintained until loss of seniority occurs under the provisions of Article 12.04.

12.04 Loss of Seniority

Seniority shall be lost when:

513,5

- (a) a period of more than twelve (12) months occurs between periods of temporary employment;
- (b) an employee voluntarily resigns except as in 12.06 or except where a temporary employee resigns due to medical reasons which are supported by a medical certificate satisfactory to the University;
- (c) a continuing employee is terminated unless the employee is subsequently reinstated through the Grievance Procedure;
- (d) layoff over twelve (12) months;
- (e) no response to a recall notice except as set out in Article 14.08(b).

12.05 Seniority Lists

Up-to-date lists of seniority with the University shall be sent to the Union on the first day of each semester. There shall be a separate list for temporary employees.

12.06 Seniority Restored

If a continuing employee resigns and within ninety (90) days is rehired to a continuing position by the University, that employee's seniority shall be restored.

ARTICLE 13 - VACANCIES PROMOTIONS. PROBATION. TRANSFERS, DEMOTIONS

13.01 Employment Priority

- (a) The University shall fill vacancies from applicants within the bargaining unit, giving equal consideration to applicants currently employed, on the laid off list, and on the temporary employees' seniority list before hiring new employees, provided that such applicants having the necessary ability and qualifications are available.
- (b) The parties recognize that from time to time some individuals on the temporary seniority list will not be working. These individuals may, if they wish to be considered for further temporary work, register with the Staffing Consultant in Human Resources indicating their availability. When filling temporary vacancies, primary consideration will be given to availability, ability and qualifications. When two or more individuals have registered for temporary work and are available and

considered to have equal ability and qualifications, the individual with the greater seniority shall be appointed. Appointments to temporary part-time positions will be subject to 13.01(c) below.

(c) For temporary part-time work, the University shall, wherever possible, and without regard to seniority, give priority to students with the necessary ability and qualifications. In addition, a student who has worked in the hiring department and who has performed satisfactorily shall be given hiring priority over a student who has not worked in that department.

13.02 Job Postings

- (a) Vacancies for all continuing positions shall be posted. Vacancies for all temporary positions over three (3) months shall be posted except when an employee leaves a temporary position to take another position within the University and the remaining term in the vacated position is less than four (4) months.
- (b) All postings shall be for a minimum of five (5) workin days. A copy will be sent to the Union office. A copy wid be sent to those employees on the laid off list who have agreed with the University on the classifications that are within their scope and who have not been served recall notice.
- (c) Each posting shall include job title, position number, salary, outline of job duties, and necessary qualifications and skills. Each Notice of Vacancy shall state "This position is open to both male and female applicants. The University is an equal opportunity employer."
- (d) Supervisors will use a standard format and set of questions for all applicants interviewed for a posted job.
- (e) An unsuccessful applicant to a posted position shall have ten (10) working days from the date she/he becomes aware that another applicant was selected for the position to request written reasons why she/he was unsuccessful. The hiring department will respond in writing within ten (10) working days from the date of the request. Such written responses shall not be placed in the applicant's Personnel file. The time limit for requesting written reasons or for responding to a request for reasons may be extended by mutual written agreement between the University and the Union.
- (f) If an unsuccessful applicant or the Union has further questions or concerns after receiving the supervisor's written reasons, then within ten (10) working days after the employee has received the written reasons, the employee or the Union may request a meeting where the supervisor, the employee and a Union representative will be present to discuss the reasons why the employee was unsuccessful. The meeting will take place within ten (10) working days of the request. The time limits in this

paragraph may be extended by mutual written agreement between the University and the Union.

(g) The University shall notify the Union in writing of the discontinuation of any vacant position as soon as the decision is made to discontinue the position.

13.03 Promotion

- (a) Definition: The movement of an employee from one **position** to another in a higher salary grade, other than by reclassification.
- (b) Both parties agree:
 - (i) with the principle of promotion within the service of the University and,
 - (ii) that job opportunity shall increase in proportion to the length of service.

Promotions shall be based equally on ability, qualifications and seniority.

- (c) When making promotions the University shall give primary consideration to the ability and qualifications of applicants. If after such consideration two or more applicants for a position are considered to have equal ability and qualifications, the one with the most seniority shall receive the promotion.
- (d) In any arbitration, pursuant to this provision, if the Union is able to demonstrate that the senior applicant has the required ability and qualifications to perform the job, the University must establish that the grievor's ability and qualifications are not equal to those of the successful applicant.

13.04 Temporary Promotion

- (a) Definition: The movement of an employee from one position to another in a higher salary grade, (other than by reclassification), for a period of time after which the employee is to be returned to the position and pay rate held prior to the promotion (allowing for step increases earned through accrual of classification service during the promotion).
- (b) The rate of payment for a temporary promotion shall be in accordance with the conditions of 13.06 (Salary Adjustment), and shall apply for the duration of the temporary promotion provided that the period is equal to or greater than thirty-five (35) hours.

13.05 Demotion

(a) Definition: The movement of an employee from one position to another in a lower salary grade, other than by reclassification.

(b) Any employee shall have the right to apply for a vacant position in a lower salary range and classification, subject to the conditions of "promotion". Article 13.03.

13.06 Salary Adjustment

- (a) The salary of an employee promoted to a higher classified position shall be increased to the closest increment step in the higher pay grade that provides for a minimum increase of five (5) percent bi-weekly.
- (b) Where an employee has advanced from a recognized "training" position, the employee's salary shall be increased to the closest increment step in the higher pay grade that provides for a minimum increase of five (5) percent bi-weekly.
- (c) If an employee chooses to apply for, and receives, a position in a lower classification, the salary shall be that of the lower classification. The employee's classification service in her/his previous position shall apply in the lower classification.
- (d) When an employee moves into a position on a continuing basis, she/he shall be given increment service credit for service in any temporary assignment in the same position provided that the temporary assignment ended no more than six (6) months prior to the start date for the continuing appointment.

13.07 Transfer

- (a) Definition: A change from an employee's position to another in the same salary grade via the job posting procedure or as otherwise specified in this contract, e.g. 14.03(b)(i).
- (b) Any employee shall have the right to apply for a vacant position in the same salary range and classification, subject to the conditions of "promotion", Article 13.03.

13.08 Status Upon Movement to Temporary Position

An employee will be allowed to maintain her/his continuing status when the employee permanently leaves her/his continuing position and moves (voluntarily or involuntarily) into a temporary assignment. This status will apply to the first temporary assignment and only if there is no break in service between the continuing assignment and the temporary assignment.

An employee who voluntarily leaves a continuing position to move into a temporary assignment without a break in service shall have the same status as an employee who has resigned from a continuing position upon the termination of the temporary assignment (ref. Article 12.06).

13.09 Transfer Outside the Bargaining Unit

No employee shall be transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit without her/his consent. If the employee is transferred back to a position inside the bargaining unit, seniority will have accrued during the period of transfer.

13.10 Trial Period

- (a) Definition: That initial one (1) month period in each position held by the same employee during which the employee finds whether or not the job is satisfactory, and the University finds whether or not the employee is able (or will be able with the job orientation) to meet the basic job requirements.
- (b) When promoted, transferred, reinstated to a new position, involuntary transferred, or rehired through the job application procedure from the laid off list, the employee shall be on a trial period for one (1) month, (except as in 13.10(c)). If during the trial period the employee finds the job unsatisfactory, or is unable to meet the basic 'ob requirements, where possible, she/he shall be returned to her/his former position or to one of at least equal salary range. If no suitable vacancy exists, the employee shall be placed on the laid off list rather than terminated. The trial period may be extended by mutual agreement in writing.
- (c) The trial period shall be waived where an employee is being placed into a position in which that employee has already passed the trial period.
- (d) The University shall conduct bi-weekly evaluations of each continuing employee who is on a trial period. Such evaluations shall be reviewed with the employee as they are completed.

13.11 Probationary Period

- (a) Definition: That initial three (3) month period of service where the University finds whether or not the **employee** is able to meet the basic job requirements. The **probationary period** may be extended by mutual written agreement between the University and the Union.
- (b) Continuing Employees: All continuing employees on initial hiring, (or rehiring after seniority has been lost, reference Article 12.04), will be on a three (3) month probationary period. During this time, newly hired employees shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of this Agreement, except that the employment of such employees may be terminated at any time during the probationary period, subject to Article 11.05(d).
- (c) Temporary Employees: If temporary employment continues for longer than four (4) months of unbroken service, in the same position, the employee shall be

considered a "continuing employee", and her/his probationary period shall be considered completed after the first three (3) months.

- (d) No employee shall have more than one probationary period as long as that employee's seniority is in effect. However, the provisions of Article 13.10 (Trial Period) shall apply.
- (e) The University shall conduct bi-weekly evaluations of continuing employees who are on probation and of temporary employees whose initial appointment is greater than four (4) months. Such evaluations shall be reviewed with the employee as they are completed.

ARTICLE 14 - INVOLUNTARY TRANSFER. LAYOFF AND RECALL

14,01 Definitions

- (a) Layoff shall mean the discontinuance or reduction in hours of a position(s) due to lack of work **or** reduction or discontinuation of a service or services. The discontinuation of services may be due to the elimination of a program or programs or to inadequate funding or to technological change (ref Article 48). Employees whose positions have been so affected shall be subject to the involuntary transfer procedure as provided in this Agreement.
- (b) Involuntary transfer shall mean a transfer due to a layoff which takes place by means other than the employee applying for and receiving a posted vacancy.
- (c) Laid off shall mean the involuntary cessation of employment due to a layoff.
- (d) Recall shall mean the direct return of an employee from the laid off list to her/his former position of employment, bypassing the job posting procedure.

14.02 Notice of Intent to Layoff

When a layoff is anticipated the University shall give the Union and the employee(s) written notice of intent to layoff and advise the employee of the potential of being involuntarily transferred or laid off. In the case of temporary employees occupying positions which normally recur on a semester or yearly basis, they shall receive notice of termination as provided in Article 11.05. The notice of intent to layoff shall specify the reasons for the layoff. The Union shall be sent copies of all such notices.

14.03 Involuntary Transfer/Laid Off Procedure

(a) The continuing employees shall then be interviewed by Human Resources to determine the following:

- (i) Job classifications that are within her/his scope or are likely to be within her/his scope given the job orientation of the trial period.
- (ii) Departments in which she/he would prefer to work, and such expressed preferences will be considered where possible.
- (iii) A full-time employee whose position is being reduced to part-time may elect to remain in the reduced position, utilize the involuntary transfer/laid off procedure to secure another full-time position, or remain in the reduced position and utilize the involuntary transfer/laid off procedure to secure another part-time position to make up full-time hours.
- (iv) An employee may elect to be laid off rather than undertake involuntary transfer.
- (b) The determination of which employee(s) are to be involuntarily transferred or laid off shall be made on the basis of the inverse order of seniority having regard for the nature of the remaining work and the ability of the remaining employee(s) to perform the work. If one of a number of similar positions within a faculty, department or a division of the University is to be eliminated, the employee involuntarily transferred shall be the one with the least seniority. The following shall also be considered:
 - (i) An employee may be involuntarily transferred to replace a person of less seniority provided that the employee being involuntarily transferred either has, or will likely have, the qualifications and ability to maintain the job requirements within the trial period.
 - (ii) All involuntary transfer options shall be exhausted before an employee is laid off.
 - (iii) No continuing employee shall be laid off as long as there are temporary employees performing work within the capabilities of that employee.
- (c) When the information mentioned above has been obtained and collated, the University, in consultation with the Union, will arrange involuntary transfers so as to require the least number of employees being involuntarily transferred and laid off. Human Resources will then issue Involuntary Transfer and Laid Off Notices in accordance with the relevant articles of this Agreement. Involuntary transfers thereby necessitated shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure provided they do not contravene the above procedure.
- (d) The elapsed time between the Notice of Intent to Layoff, as described in Article 14.02 and the issue of Involuntary Transfer and Laid Off Notices shall not exceed four (4) weeks.

7.3.3

14.04 Movement into a Temporary Position

An employee who is involuntarily transferred into a temporary assignment shall have the same status as an employee who is laid off from a continuing position upon the termination of the temporary assignment (ref. Article 14.07).

An employee who refuses the University's offer of involuntary transfer into a continuing position in favour of taking a temporary assignment shall be laid off upon the termination of her/his continuing assignment and shall remain on the laid-off list for twelve months from that date. The temporary assignment will not be identified as an involuntary transfer, but the employee's status will be governed by Article 13.08.

14.05 Involuntary Transfer and Laid Off Notice

- (a) Employees shall be given four (4) weeks notice of involuntary transfer.
- (b) Should an employee on notice of layoff leave the University prior to the expiry of the time limit set out in Article 14.05(c), and her/his position is scheduled to be filled by an employee on involuntary transfer, the time limit on involuntary transfer, as set out in 14.05(a), shall be waived. Other than as provided for in this article, all layoffs and involuntary transfers will take place on expiry of the time limits provided.
- (c) Employees being laid off shall be given a minimum of four (4) weeks' notice or four (4) weeks' pay in lieu of notice. In the case of irregular earnings, "payment in lieu" shall be the same as that stated for termination in Article 11.05(f). Employees laid off as a result of their position being discontinued due to technological change shall receive severance pay and notice as provided in 48.07.

14.06 Salary on Involuntary Transfer

- (a) Where an employee is involuntarily transferred to a **position** of the same salary grade level she/he shall retain her/his step level.
- (b) Where an employee is involuntarily transferred to a position providing a lower pay grade, she/he will have her/his former increment step at the higher pay grade frozen until the employee's classification service in the new (lower) pay grade is sufficient to provide for a salary increase to a higher increment step in the lower pay grade.

An employee whose increment step is frozen will be eligible for any general wage increases which apply to the pay grade and the increment step at which the employee is frozen.

14.07 Maintenance on Laid Off List

A laid off list shall be established and the laid off employee's name shall be placed on the list effective the day after her/his last day of employment, and shall be kept on the list for a period of one (1) year. It shall be the responsibility of the employee on the laid off list to keep the University informed of her/his current address. Employees on the laid off list shall be sent copies of vacancy postings as provided in Article 13.02.

14.08 Notice of Recall

- (a) Notice of recall shall be made by telephone, or, if this is unsuccessful, by registered mail to the last known address of the employee. A copy shall be sent to the Union.
- (b) A person on the laid off list, when served recall notice, shall have seven (7) days from the mailing of the notice to reply except where extenuating circumstances such as sickness, etc. prevents the recalled employee meeting the time limit. It is the responsibility of the recalled employee or the Union to inform the University of the extenuating circumstances within a reasonable period of the expiry of the time limit provided. Failure of the recalled employee to respond shall result in loss of seniority as provided in Article 12.04(e).
- (c) If within one (1) year of the discontinuation of a position, that position is reinstated in the same department, the employee who was involuntarily transferred out of the discontinued position shall have choice of staying in her/his present position, or transferring to the newly opened (her/his former) osition bypassing the job application procedure, without foss of step increases to which the employee would have been entitled had she/he not been involuntarily transferred. If the former incumbent of the discontinued position has been laid off she/he shall be recalled to the newly opened (her/his former) position.

14.09 Salary of Recalled Employee

An employee recalled as defined in Article 14.01(d) shall be returned to the step level which she/he had attained at the time of layoff and shall receive the current rate of pay for that step level.

ARTICLE 15 - JOB DESCRIPTIONS

15.01 University to Provide

- (a) All positions within the bargaining unit must have a job description. The University agrees to provide:
 - (i) employees with a copy of their individual job description on their date of hire, promotion, demotion or transfer;

(ii) the Union with copies of each individual job description for positions in the bargaining unit as currently on file in Human Resources and with new job descriptions and revised job descriptions within two (2) weeks of being written and approved by the University.

The parties agree that such descriptions are the recognized job descriptions, unless formally changed in accordance with Article 17 or as otherwise provided for in this Article.

This requirement for a job description is not necessary where an employee is hired to a position of a shorter duration than one month provided a similar position (i.e. having no major differences) does not exist in the bargaining unit and has not existed in the past. However, if the Union feels that the terms of Agreement are being violated, the Union may request a job description for any position within the bargaining unit and the University agrees to provide the description.

(b) The list of Job duties in the job description shall serve as an outline of the job. It shall be in conformity with the recognized position title and it shall not conflict with any terms of this Agreement. Job descriptions must follow a standard format and use standard terminology to describe the duties and responsibilities of the job. The minimum qualifications required to perform the work must be directly related to the duties and responsibilities of the job.

15.02 Changes in Job Descriptions

(a) The University may change or modify a job description provided the changes do not violate the terms of the Agreement. If the changes to a job description are inconsistent with the current position title then the job must be reviewed under Article 17. Following a reevaluation under Article 17, the job description and the position title shall be consistent.

If a job description is changed to the extent that the current incumbent does not have the qualifications and abilities to perform the duties of the position then either the University will offer to provide appropriate training to the incumbent to enable the employee to perform the new duties or the change in duties will be considered a deletion of the position previously described and the creation of a new position. In a case where the former position is deleted, the continuing incumbent will be eligible for the layoff and involuntary transfer procedure in accordance with Article 14.

(b) New or revised job descriptions shall be signed by, and a copy shall be given to, the affected employee(s), before being forwarded to the Union as set out in Article 15.01(a)(ii).

It is understood that the signature(s) of the employee(s) mean only that the employee(s) have read and understood the job description, and in no way implies approval. or disapproval.

(c) Job descriptions forwarded to the Union as set out in Article 15.01 shall be considered accepted if no request for review has been received from the Union and/or the employee within thirty (30) working days of the date of forwarding to the Union. This time limit may be extended with the mutual consent of both parties.

Requests for review of job descriptions must be submitted to the Director, Human Resources who will forward the requests to the members of the Job Description Committee within two (2) working days of receipt. The Job Description Committee shall be comprised of one (1) representative appointed by the Union and one (1) representative appointed by the University. Requests for review shall include a summary identifying where the job description is inaccurate, inconsistent or where it violates the terms of the Agreement. The Committee shall make a recommendation to the University, Union and employee to resolve the dispute within five (5) working days following their receipt of the request. The University, Union and/or employee shall have five (5) working days to accept the recommendation. If the Committee is unable to make a joint recommendation or if the Committee's recommendation is not accepted by the University, Union or employee, the dispute over the job description shall be considered a grievance commencing at step two (2) of the Standard Grievance Procedure.

P's

15.03 Review of Job Descriptions

At least once annually the employee and her/his supervisor shall conduct a joint review of the job description to determine its currency.

15.04 Job Descriptions Documentation

The standard job description form cannot be revised without mutual agreement between the University and the Union.

ARTICLE 16 - JOB SPLITTING

16.01 Entitlement



The University shall allow job s litting (two (2) or more employees sharing one position! The details will be worked out between the employees requesting job splitting and their immediate supervisor, but the schedule of hours of work for an employee in a job split must not be less than fourteen (14) biweekly.

16.02 Eligibility to Participate as Non-Incumbent

Continuing and temporary employees and individuals who are not currently employed by the University but are on the laid off-list or the temporary employees' seniority list shall be eligible to participate as non-incumbents in job splits arranged in accordance with this article provided that all of the other conditions and requirements for job splitting are met.

16.03 Temporary Absences

When one of the employees in a job split (whether she/he is the incumbent or non-incumbent) is temporarily absent from the position, then if the supervisor and the employee who remains at work agree, the remaining employee will assume all or a portion of the absent employee's hours of work and duties. If the supervisor and the remaining employee do not agree, then the absence from the job split arrangement will be treated like an absence from a part-time position. The department may then, if it wishes, fill all or a portion of the hours of work and duties left by the absent employee through the normal procedures for replacement.

16.04 Incumbent Termination of Job Split

The incumbent in a split position is entitled to terminate the job split upon three (3) months notice in writing to the supervisor, the non-incumbent(s), and Human Resources. Upon the expiration of the notice, the non-incumbent(s) will be terminated, but will retain her/his seniority for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of the termination.

16.05 Benefits or Pay in Lieu

The incumbent and non-incumbent(s) in a split position shall be entitled to part-time employee benefits or pay in lieu of benefits as provided elsewhere in this agreement.

ARTICLE 17 - JOB RE-EVALUATION AND RECLASSIFICATION

17.01 Definition

Job re-evaluation consists of an evaluation and comparison of the duties and responsibilities, skills and knowledge, effort and working conditions required in a position relative to all other positions in the bargaining unit

17.02 When Re-evaluation is Appropriate

Re-evaluation is appropriate when the duties and responsibilities, skill and knowledge, effort and working conditions of a position substantively change or when the

University, Union or employee believes a position is incorrectly classified.

17.03 Requests for Re-evaluation

- (a) Requests for re-evaluation may originate from the University, Union or employee. Requests originating from the University must be approved by the Dean/Director and Vice-president before being forwarded to Human Resources. Requests originating from the Union or employee must be forwarded by the supervisor to Human Resources within twenty (20) working days. Supervisors shall provide employees whose positions are undergoing re-evaluation with a copy of the standard job description form, job description writing guide and glossary of job description writing verbs.
- (b) Requests must be signed and dated by the individual initiating the request and must include:
 - (i) a completed Re-evaluation Request Form
 - (ii) copies of existing and revised approved job descriptions in the standard format
 - (iii) summary of the substantive differences between the existing and revised job descriptions
 - (iv) a completed job questionnaire
 - (v) list of other comparable positions, if appropriate
 - (vi) suggested classification
 - (vii) funding arrangements when initiated by the University
- (c) Human Resources will conduct a re-evaluation which may include an interview and/or on-site visit with the employee and/or supervisor. At the request of the employee or supervisor an interview and/or on-site visit will be conducted.

17.04 Notification of Disposition

The employee will be notified by letter within thirty (30) working days of the disposition of the request. These time limits may be altered by mutual consent of the parties.

17.05 Documents Distribution

A copy of the revised approved job description, the reevaluation report and any supporting documentation will be provided to the employee, the Union and the supervisor when the review is completed.

17.06 Salary Increase Retroactive

A wage increase as a result of reclassification resulting from re-evaluation will be retroactive to the date of request for the re-evaluation, unless the new duties are to begin at a future date.

17.07 No Probationary Period

If an employee's position is reclassified as a result of reevaluation, she/he shall not be placed on probation.

17.08 Salary Increase

- (a) If an employee has been performin the duties and responsibilities outlined in the revise8 approved job description, the salary of that employee will be increased to the same increment step in the higher pay grade (ref. Appendix D). She/he will not be placed on a trial period.
- (b) If an employee will be performing the duties and responsibilities outlined in the revised approved job description at a future date, the salary of that employee will be increased to the closest increment step in the higher pay grade that provides for a minimum increase of five (5%) percent bi-weekly (ref. Appendix D). She/he may be placed on a trial period as described in Article 13.10.

17.09 Re-evaluation Appeals

(a) Where the University, Union or employee believes a position has been incorrectly classified a request for appeal must be initiated within thirty (30) working days after receipt of the re-evaluation report referred to in Article 17.05 to the Director, Human Resources. The appeal must include a summary of the differences of alleged inaccuracies in the re-evaluation report with appropriate references to the revised approved job description and the job questionnaire (see Article 17.05).

The Director, Human Resources will acknowledge receipt of the appeal within ten (10) working days and forward the appeal and a copy of the revised approved job description, re-evaluation report, and any supporting documentation to the Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee.

31,3

- (b) The Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee will be a standing committee composed of two (2) representatives from the University and two (2) representatives from the Union. A University representative and Union representative will jointly train Committee members in the job evaluation method.
- (c) The purpose of the Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee is to make a final and binding decision on the appeal. The Committee's decision will be supported by a rationale and shall not contravene or amend the Articles

of agreement or the principles and practices of the job evaluation method.

(d) The Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee members shall have equal votes. If an issue cannot be resolved after two (2) meetings, a fifth mutually acceptable individual will be brought in to cast the deciding vote. The parties to this agreement shall maintain a list of "fifth" members in a Letter of Agreement.

(e) Re-evaluation Appeal Procedure

- (i) The Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee, unless extenuating circumstances exist, shall meet within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of the appeal by the Director, Human Resources.
- (ii) The Joint Re-evaluation Appeal Committee shall give their decision and supporting rationale in writing to the employee, Union and Director, Human Resources.

17.10 Anomalies

No person will be reclassified to a lower salary grade. Anomalies will be identified and corrected when the incumbent vacates the position.

17.11 Employee Eligibility

Temporary employees shall receive the starting rate of the appropriate job classification for work performed. Only continuing employees are eligible for the reevaluation procedure as described in Article 17.01-.09.

17.12 WJO (Custom) and Pay Equity

The implementation plan for Weighted Job Questionnaire WJQ (Custom) is outlined in Appendix D to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 18 - BONDING

18.01 Arrangements

If the University requires any employee to be bonded, then the University shall make arrangements with a recognized firm to bond the employee, and the University shall pay all costs attached thereto. If the University's bonding firm is not willing to issue a bond, the employee shall have the right to obtain a bond from some other reputable and recognized bonding firm, with the cost to be borne by the University, provided the cost is not greater than the cost would be if the bond were obtained by the University. In the case where the cost is greater, the employee will be responsible for the additional cost of the bond.

18.02 Bonding Pre-Condition on New Employees

A new employee may be hired with the provision that she/he is bondable. If said employee is unbondable, (as in Article 18.01) she/he may be dismissed without notice.

18.03 Determination Prior to Transfer or Promotion

The University shall determine the bondability of an employee prior to transferring or promoting the employee to a position requiring bonding. If the employee is unbondable, she/he shall not be transferred to a position requiring bonding.

18.04 Bonding Subsequent to Employment

Employees whose positions become bondable after the date of hire, shall, if unbondable, be transferred or promoted to a less sensitive position with no loss of pay.

ARTICLE 19 · CONTRACTING OUT

The University will not normally contract out work normally performed by members of the bargaining unit.

11/2

Where contracting out is deemed necessary by the University, the Union will be consulted in advance. Where possible such consultation will take place at least two (2) weeks prior to the contracting out.

No employee will be terminated, laid off, or have their regularly scheduled work day or regularly scheduled work week reduced as a result of contracting out.

ARTICLE 20 - USE OF UNIVERSITY FACILITIES

20.01 Facilities

The University shall provide access for all employees to University recreational, library and food services facilities during those hours scheduled for staff or public use, providing such use does not conflict with the scheduled hours of work. Where such use conflicts with scheduled hours of work, the prior approval of the respective supervisor is required. Make-up time shall not be considered overtime.

20.02 Library Cards

All employees shall be provided, free of charge, a library card entitling the holder to the use of facilities as enjoyed by the rest of the University community. Upon retirement, an employee shall receive a renewable lifetime library card entitling her/him to all privileges as enjoyed by the rest of the University community.

20.03 Lounges

Present lounges to which employees have access shall be maintained at no less than their present level and where possible shall be improved and/or expanded. Changes to lounges and food services will be made in consultation with the Union.

20.04 University Food Services Committee

The Union will maintain membership on the University Food Services Committee.

20.05 Gym Membership

The University agrees to provide gym membership, free of charge to all employees upon application.

ARTICLE 21 - ATTENDANCE AT UNIVERSITY FUNCTIONS

21.01 Request in Advance

Where a function or activity sponsored by a University department (exclusive of events covered by Article 23) conflicts with an employee's scheduled working hours, an advance request may be made of the supervisor for time off to attend.

Unless, in the opinion of the supervisor, departmental requirements cannot be met, the request will be granted.

21.02 Make-up Time

Approved requests are conditional on any lost time being made up. Such "make-up time shall not be considered overtime.

21.03 Make-up Waived

If the supervisor feels the function is job related the make-up time will be waived.

ARTICLE 22 - EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

22.01 Development

The University and the Union jointly respect the principles of human resource development through skill upgrading in line with career development as it relates to opportunity for advancement in the service of the University.

22.02 Training

The University shall encourage departments to provide on-the-job training for employees to upgrade their skills and knowledge as would be required for promotion within

Ja 318

the Department. The employee may submit a request to her/his supervisor to take a course or series of courses, programs, lectures or conferences etc. related to skill upgrading for future utilization by the department Or University. Each request will be considered on its individual merits. If the request is approved, the University shall allow time off with pay and may reimburse the employee for fees and costs incurred. If training is required of an employee by a department, then all fees and expenses will be paid by the department.

22.03 Training on New Equipment or Software

2.1,3

Where an employee is required to use new equipment or software which is introduced into the work place, the University shall provide the employee with training on this new equipment or software. This training shall take the form of seminars prior to the arrival of the new equipment or software and/or on-the-job training after installation.

ARTICLE 23 - TUITION WAIVER

23.01 Conditions and Arrangements for Employees

The University shall waive the payment of tuition fees for eligible employees for up to nine (9) credit hours per semester of Simon Fraser University undergraduate courses taken for credit provided all the following conditions have been met:

- (a) Application is made on FAD $9-\underline{10}$ available from the employee's department or Human Resources.
- (b) Any necessary arrangements for time off the job have been made with the supervisor and approved in advance.
- (c) The supervisor certifies that all make-up time will be recovered.
- (d) When establishing enrollment limitations, the University will not discriminate against employees or their dependents because of their entitlement under this Article 23.

23.02 Graduate Program Fees

Employees shall receive tuition waiver for Graduate Program tuition fees on the following basis:

- (a) For each of the semesters where the full program fee is charged, tuition fees shall be waived.
- (b) Thereafter tuition fees shall be waived for the reregistration fee while in the same Graduate Program.

(c) Otherwise, the same conditions and arrangements as outlined in 23.01 will apply.

23,03 Employee Eligibility

Only continuing employees are eligible for this benefit. Continuing part-time employees shall have their tuition waiver prorated on the basis of the normal hours worked in a bi-weekly pay period.

23.04 Children and Spouses

Children under twenty-five (25) years of age and spouses of continuing employees shall be exempt from the payment of tuition fees for any academic courses taken at Simon Fraser University subject to the following limitations and conditions:

- (a) Application must be made on FAD 9-IQ available from the employee's department or Human Resources.
- (b) The amount of the tuition fee waiver shall be prorated for spouses and children of part-time employees on the basis of the normal hours worked in a bi-weekly pay period.
- (c) The spouse and children of an eligible employee shall retain their eligibility for tuition waiver in the event of the employee's death or retirement.

23.05 Admission and Other Fees Not Affected

Admission to any academic course or program at Simon Fraser University shall not be affected in any way by the provisions in this Article 23. Further, this Article does not exempt employees, spouses or children from any other fees which students may be required to pay nor from any other requirements students are expected to fulfill.

ARTICLE 24 - HOURS OF WORK

24.01 Standard Work Day

5.19,142 1° 35-Laurs

Standard Work Day will be seven (7) hours, exclusive of the meal period.

24.02 Standard Work Week

Standard Work Week will be thirty-five (35) hours in any five (5) consecutive days.

24.03 Modified Work Week - Definition

Modified Work Week is an organization of the hours of work agreed to by the University and the employee to provide fewer but longer working days. Any such

modification will be arranged so that the total number of hours worked bi-weekly is seventy (70).

24.04 Modified Work Week - Proposals

(a) Employees may submit proposals through the immediate supervisor to the department head to establish a Modified Work Week. The supervisor shall forward the request within five (5) days of receipt. Employees presently on Modified Work Week schedules will not be required to submit proposals to remain on the Modified Work Week.

The criteria necessary for operation of the Modified Work Week are:

13

- (i) The services provided by the department to the University will not be diminished.
- (ii) No appreciable additional costs to the University will result from the implementation of the Modified Work Week.

If these criteria are met, approval of such proposals shall not be denied.

Employees shall be informed of the decision regarding **proposals** within fifteen (15) workin days of submission. The time limit may be extended if the proposal is not adequately documented.

There will be a four (4) month trial period and if during this period the criteria are not met, the Modified Work Week may be discontinued.

If the criteria are met during the trial period the Modified Work Week will remain in operation unless changed as provided for in 24.04(b).

(b) Should the criteria in 24.04(a) cease to be met, or should changes in the hours of operation in the department require a change in the arrangement of hours comprising the Modified Work Week schedule, the de artment head may propose a change to the employees affected. Failing agreement between the parties concerned, the department head's proposal shall be submitted to the Modified Work Week Joint Committee for recommendations. The Modified Work Week Joint Committee shall be comprised of three representatives from the Union and three representatives from the University. The Modified Work Week Joint Committee will make recommendations on proposals, and such recommendations will be forwarded to the Dean, Director, or equivalent involved in the proposed change through the Director of Human Resources. The Dean, Director, or equivalent will consider the recommendations prior to implementing any change.

ر م هر

ARTICLE 25 - OVERTIME

25.01 Definition

Overtime is that time worked in excess of the normal or modified work day, work week or bi-weekly period which is applicable (ref Article 24).

Scheduled overtime is overtime that has been prearranged. This does not preclude the operation of Article 25.03.

25.02 Rate of Compensation

(100

(a) Day Shift: Compensation for overtime shall be paid at the rate of two (2) times the hourly rate for hours worked to the nearest one-quarter (1/4) hour.

5,13;

(b) Other Shifts: Overtime worked in addition to a shift, other than day shift, will be paid for at two (2) times the differential rate.

Continuous Work Day

Overtime worked continuous with the work day [no unpaid break between regular shift and overtime except for the first unpaid one-half hour meal period, (25.07)] shall be paid for a minimum of one half (1/2) hour at overtime rates.

25.04 Overtime Work Performed at Home

Any overtime work which is performed by the employee at her/his residence shall be paid for a minimum of one half (1/2) hour at overtime rates.

25.05 Call out



Employees called out to work before the beginning of, or called back after completing, a regular day's work, where such work is not continuous with the regular shift, or from a day off, shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours at overtime rates. In addition, if an unpaid period [other than the first unpaid one-half (1/2) hour meal period, (25.07)] occurs between the regular shift and overtime which is worked on a regular work day, such overtime shall be considered Call Out and shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours at overtime rates unless the employee performs the overtime work at her/his residence (ref Article 25.04).

25.06 Time Off in Lieu of Payment

Employees working overtime may take compensatory time 01, calculated at double time, in lieu of payment or a combination of time off and pay. Such arrangements will be made in consultation with the supervisor.

25.07 Unpaid Meal Period in Overtime

Employees requested to work overtime in excess of two (2) hours beyond their regular work day shall be allowed an unpaid one-half (1/2) hour meal period before, during or after the overtime work period.

25.08 Paid Meal Period in Overtime

A one-half (1/2) hour paid meal period shall be provided after every four (4) hours of overtime worked beyond the regular work day. Reasonable meal costs will be reimbursed, based on receipts.

25.09 Overtime Voluntary

The. University shall endeavour to keep overtime to a minimum. Overtime shall be on a voluntary basis.

25.10 Standby Time

For each twenty-four (24) hour period accumulated standby" time, the employee will be paid one (1) hour's pay, or time off in lieu of payment, with approval of supervisor. Employees on vacation cannot be placed on standby.

25.1 Cancellation of Call Out

Cancellation of call out, either before or after the employee starts work, will result in a four (4) hour minimum at overtime rates.

25.12 Cancellation of Scheduled Overtime

Cancellation of scheduled overtime, either before or after the employee starts work, will result in a one (1) hour minimum at overtime rates.

25.13 Compensating Time Off for Late Overtime

If an employee works more than six (6) hours of overtime continuous with a standard or modified work day then she/he will report to work the following day one (1) hour after the normal starting time for each hour worked beyond the six (6) overtime hours, with no loss in pay.

ARTICLE 26 - SHIFTS AND SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS

26.01 Shift Definitions

SHIFT TIME RATE RATE
BOUNDARIES Mon. 0001Sat. 2400

DAY 0800 - 1800 reg. hrly. rate r.h.r. + 0.60¢/hr.

AFTERNOON 1800 - 2400 r.h.r. +\$.75/hr. r.h.r. + \$1.25/hr.

NIGHT 0001 - 0800 r.h.r. + \$1.00/hr. r.h.r. + \$1.50/hr.

(.+ c)

Employees will be paid shift rate for all time worked in a shift, exclusive of meal breaks, and including rest periods. Employees working a day shift will not be eligible for shift rates where their modified work day extends beyond 1800, unless the extension is due to scheduling requirements.

26.02 Split Shifts

There shall be no split shifts for full-time employees. Part-time employees may elect to work split shifts.

26.03 Shift Schedules

- (a) Shift schedules shall be posted fourteen (14) days in advance and employees will be consulted prior to any change in the shift schedule in order to determine their availability.
- (b) Changes to starting times and changes to days on which work is to be performed for employees on either Standard or Modified Work Week will be implemented as in 26.03(c) and (d).

Chan es in the arrangement of hours which comprise the Modified Work Week may be implemented as in 24.04.

- (c) The employee may be required to make temporary changes to starting times or to days on which work will be performed in order to cover for other employees who report to the same supervisor and who are temporarily absent. The supervisor will take into account the employee's availability, as determined by consultation. Such temporary changes are subject to Temporary Promotion, Article 13.04. Such temporary changes will be for periods not to exceed four weeks duration.
- (d) Changes in schedules which affect starting times by more than one hour or which affect days on which work will be performed and which exceed four weeks duration shall be subject to joint University/Union negotiations. In the event of disagreement, the schedule of starting times and days on which work is to be performed will remain as on September 7, 1977 until the disagreement is resolved by the Labour/Management Committee.

26.04 Time Between Shifts

There shall be at least twelve (12) hours between the end of work on one regular shift and the commencement of the next regular shift, unless the employee gives her/his consent in writing.

26.05 Consecutive Days Off

Shift days will be chosen so as to provide a minimum of two (2) consecutive days off.

26.06 Reporting Allowance for Part-Time Employees

Any part-time employee who is called in to work and for whom there then is no work upon arrival, and who was not notified of this fact twelve (12) hours in advance, will receive two (2) hours' pay at regular rates.

26.07 Temporary Part-Time Employee Shift Cancellation

Wherever possible, a temporary part-time employee shall be given a minimum of eight (8) hours notice of a shift cancellation. If less than eight (8) hours notice of cancellation is provided, the employee shall be given two (2) hours pay at her/his regular rate for the canceled shift.

If a supervisor or her/his designate attempts to provide notice under this article 26.07 by telephone to the most recent telephone number provided by the employee, the notice will be deemed to be served even if the employee does not answer the telephone provided that a message is left for the employee or two telephone calls are made to the number, but are not answered.

ARTICLE 27 - EMPLOYEES WHO INSTRUCT

In many positions, instruction forms a part of the job and will be part of the job description. n these cases, this component of the position has already been included in the determination of appropriate salary range.

On occasion however, there are situations, i.e. in a workshop, seminar, or course where, because of expertise possessed, an employee may be requested to develop and present instructional material. In such instances, an additional stipend must be arranged through the department requesting the services, giving concern for the length and nature of the preparation and presentation and whether the instruction 1s additive or substitutive to the employee's regular responsibilities.

The employee may refuse these requests if satisfactory arrangements cannot be made.

ARTICLE 28 - CAR POOLS AND OTHER TRANSPORTATION

28.01 Public Transportation Not Available after Overtime or Call

When an employee commences or ends a period of overtime or call out when public transport is not in operation or will cease operation before the employee arrives at home, the employee will be reimbursed taxi fare.

28.02 Scheduling Regular Shifts

- (a) Compatible with Transport:
 - (i) The University shall attempt to arrange end of shifts in such a manner so the employee has access to public transportation with no more than a fifteen (15) minute wait.
 - (ii) An employee's shift start and/or finish times may be amended by up to one half (1/2) hour upon approval of the supervisor in order to accommodate the employee's public transportation or car-pooling arrangements. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- (b) Staffing if Incompatible: When shifts begin or end at hours incompatible with public transport, the University shall attempt to staff shifts amongst employees capable of arranging their own transportation. In the event this is not possible, the University shall provide taxi vouchers or reimbursement for taxi fare.

28.03 Escort Arrangements

Em loyees required to work beyond normal closing time a n 8 apprehensive about personal safety should make prior arrangements with Traffic and Security or their supervisor for escort to their chosen form of transport.

28.04 Car Pools

The University shall assist the Union in its efforts to establish a car pool registration system and encourage employees to participate in car pools.

ARTICLE 29 - PARKING

29.01 Parking Spaces

Employees whose parking space is taken over for other purposes, shall be provided parking in the next nearest available parking lot at a rate not to exceed the previously paid rate. If the original parking space is returned to service, the original holder of that space shall have first option to regain parking rights.

29.02 Payroll Deduction

The University will implement a system of payroll deduction for parking fees. This deduction shall be mandatory for all continuing employees. Parking fees will be deducted no less than once per month. This payroll deduction will not be available to temporary employees.

ARTICLE 30 - MEAL PERIODS

The employee shall be entitled to a meal break of at least one-half (1/2) hour and normally not more than one (1) hour in each shift. Providing always that departmental requirements are met, the time of and length of the meal period shall be determined by mutual agreement between the employee and her/his immediate supervisor.

ARTICLE 31 - RELIEF PERIODS (COFFEE BREAKS)

The employees shall be entitled to two (2) paid relief periods of fifteen (15) minutes each, one such period to be taken part way through the first one-half (1/2) of the work period and the other part way through the second one-half (1/2).

The receding notwithstanding, in some circumstances it may %e appropriate for the supervisor and an employee to make other mutually agreeable arrangements for the taking of relief periods.

Where the proposed timing of relief periods results in a conflict between employees, the supervisor shall use seniority to determine who receives the preferred relief period.

This provision will not result in a shorter work day or a longer meal break on a regular basis.

L A S

32.01 Definition

A paid or general holiday is any statutory holiday or any official University holiday (see Article 32.02).

32.02 List



(a) New Year's Day Good Friday Easter Monday Victoria Day Dominion Day B.C. Day

Labour Day Thanksgiving Day Remembrance Day Christmas Day Boxing Day

(b) In addition, any other day proclaimed by the federal, provincial or municipal governments, or any other day in

lieu of a statutory holiday shall be recognized as a paid holiday for all staff except for those employees who work weekend shifts. In such cases the actual paid holiday will be observed as the paid holiday rather than the day in lieu.

(c) Where possible the University will not schedule employees to work on Easter Sunday. However, if an employee who would normally work on Easter Sunday is rescheduled, to work on Easter Monday then she/he will receive straight time pay for the Monday shift.

32.03 Paid Holiday on Scheduled Day Off

Where a paid holiday falls on a scheduled day off, employees shall normally receive equivalent time off, usually within the same bi-weekly pay period. Such time off will be arranged by mutual agreement between the employee and the supervisor. Should the department be unable to grant time off because of work loads then the employee shall receive pay in lieu at regular rates (i.e. the rate that would have been in effect for the shift). For continuing part-time employees also see 32.06(b) for special scheduling arrangements.

32.04 Work on a Paid Holiday

(.~).

Where an employee works on a paid holiday, or a day provided in lieu thereof, she/he will be provided an equivalent day off or pay in lieu as outlined in 32.03 above. In addition, all hours worked will be compensated for at overtime rates (two (2) times) based on the shift rate of pay in effect for the hours worked (see Differential Premiums, Article 26).

32.05 Additional Religious Holidays

3.15 p.

Employees who wish to observe additional religious holidays will be given leave of absence without pay.

32.06 Employee Eligibility

(a) All full-time continuing employees.

5.8°,1

(b) Part-time continuing employees shall be eligible for general holiday pay. The pay to be received shall be prorated according to the number of straight time hours which would normally have been worked by the employee in the bi-weekly period within which the general holiday falls. Where a paid holiday falls on a scheduled working day, or on a scheduled day off and the em loyee is taking equivalent time off (as provided in 32.93), and the time off thus provided is more than that paid for by holiday pay, the employee emay elect to work extra hours to make up for the difference. The make-up time shall be arranged by mutual agreement between the employee and the supervisor and shall normally be completed within the bi-weekly pay period.

ARTICLE 33 - OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY CLOSURE

Should the University, or an area of the University, be officially closed temporarily due to environmental conditions, utility disruptions, road conditions, acts of God, or other reasons beyond the control of the employees covered by this Agreement, employees shall receive salary maintenance during the closure. These closures shall not be considered a University holiday as in Article 32.

Those employees required to remain on duty to provide essential services shall be given the equivalent time off with such time off to be taken within the following calendar month. Should these employees be required to remain beyond their normal hours of work, the usual provisions for overtime would apply.

Employees who are requested to report for work for an afternoon or night shift which commences during a closure shall receive equivalent time off for all hours worked on the shift, with such time off to be taken within the following calendar month. Should these employees be required to remain beyond their normal hours of work, the usual provisions for overtime would apply.

ARTICLE 34 - ANNUAL VACATIONS

34.01 Calendar Year

For the purpose of this Agreement, the calendar year shall mean the twelve (12) month period from January 1 to December 31, inclusive.

34.02 Vacation Entitlement for the First Incomplete Year

For the first incomplete calendar year of service each employee shall receive a vacation credit effective the date of commencing employment with the University. Such credit shall be designated in hours and minutes and shall be calculated by multiplying one hundred and five (105) hours by the number of calendar days remaining in the year upon commencement of employment and then dividing by three hundred and sixty -five (365) (or 366 in a leap year). The vacation credit may be scheduled in the first calendar year of service or up to two-thirds (2/3) may be banked in accordance with Article 34.04, 34.05, 34.06 and 34.07.

34.03 Vacation Schedule for Subsequent Years

Employees shall receive subsequent annual vacations with pay on the following basis:



(a) Three (3) weeks in the second, third, fourth and fifth calendar years of service;

(b) Four (4) weeks in the sixth, seventh and eighth calendar years of service;

(c) Five (5) weeks in the ninth, tenth, eleventh, twelfth, thirteenth and fourteenth calendar years of service;

(d) Commencing with their fifteenth calendar year of service, employees shall receive one (1) additional day of annual vacation with pay for each additional year of service to a maximum of six (6) additional days. Vacation pay in each of the above cases shall be those rates which the employee would have received if she/he had worked. For computation of vacation entitlement employees shall be deemed to be in their second calendar year on January 1, if they have had service immediately preceding that date.

Prorated Reductions: Where the employee is absent from work for more than twenty (20) working days in the calendar year (except on sick leave or maternity leave) the vacation entitlement will be prorated accordingly.

34.04 Accumulation or "Banking" of Vacations

Employees shall be entitled to bank up to a maximum of two-thirds (2/3) of their vacation but must take the banked vacation in the following year. Such banked vacation will receive pay at the rates the employee would normally have received had she/he worked that period in the year in which the banked vacation is taken. Employees may bank up to one hundred percent (100%) of their vacation with consent of their supervisor.

34.05 Vacation Flexibility

Other than in the first incomplete calendar year, as of January 1, each **employee** shall have one full calendar year's vacation entitlement available to her/him to take within that calendar year. This time of vacation is to be determined by mutual agreement between the department and the individual employee.

34.06 Vacation Schedule

(a) Departments shall post or begin to circulate a schedule for employee vacation requests by no later than January 31 of each calendar year. The schedule will cover a twelve (12) month period from April 1 of the current calendar year through March 31 of the next calendar year. The vacation scheduled in the period January 1 through March 31 of the next calendar year may be vacation entitlement which is banked from the current calendar year in accordance with Article 34.04 or the vacation entitlement for the next calendar year.

(b) All of the employees affected by the schedule shall write in their requests for vacation for the twelve (12) month period by no later than March 15.

(c) Employees who fail to write in their requests for vacation by March 15 shall not be able to use their seniority under Article 34.07. Departments shall then discuss any conflicts with the employees directly affected and the employees shall revise their vacation requests accordingly.

(d) The approved vacation schedule shall be posted by no later than April 1 each year. The schedule may be changed thereafter by mutual agreement between the employee and the department.

34.07 Vacation Scheduling

Scheduling of vacation shall be on the basis of seniority where there is a conflict of scheduling between employees. Employees desiring to take holidays in broken periods shall be entitled to take their vacation subject to the requirements of their department.

34.08 Compensation for Holidays Falling Within Vacations

When a statutory or University holiday falls on or is observed during an employee's annual vacation, she/he shall be granted an additional day's vacation with full pay, for any such holiday so occurring, in addition to her/his vacation time.

34.09 Vacation Pay on Retirement

Normal retirement **is** on the first of the month coincident with or following the employee's sixty-fifth (65) birthday. On normal or early retirement taken in accordance with the terms of the Pension Plan for Members of the Administrative Staff each employee shall be entitled **to** the same vacation which she/he would have had if she/he had continued working to the end of the calendar year.

34.10 Paycheques

- (a) Employees. may, upon giving fifteen (15) calendar days prior written notice to their respective supervisors, receive any or all pay which would normally fall due during the period of their vacation.
- (b) Vacation pay requested in advance will be in the form of a paycheque. Vacation paycheques will be made available at Payroll for pick-up by the employee at least one (1) full banking day prior to the commencement of the vacation.

34.11 Utilization of Sick Leave During Vacation

Where an employee is eligible for sick leave while she/he is on vacation there shall be, on application, special arrangements made where illness or accident can be proven. The intent of this sub-section is to ensure that an employee will not lose vacation time due to some unforeseen misfortune.

34.12 No Termination, Layoff or Loss of Seniority

No employee shall be terminated, laid off, or lose seniority while she/he is on vacation.

34.13 Employee Entitlement

(a) Continuing full-time employees as set out in this Article (34).

5.4 2

(b) Continuing part-time employees shall receive vacation entitlement on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours worked in a standard bi-weekly pay? period.

ARTICLE 35 - SICK LEAVE

35.01 Seniority

No employee shall be terminated, laid off or lose seniority because of illness or injury.

35.02 Entitlement

Entitlement to sick leave for each illness or injury shall politically based on seniority as follows:

Less than three (3) months (includes probation) - one (1) week at one hundred percent (100%) salary.

Three (3) months but less than one (1) year - four (4) weeks at one hundred percent (100%), then twelve (12) weeks at seventy-five percent (75%), then ten (10) weeks at sixty percent (60%) of salary.

One (1) year but less than five (5) years

- twelve (12) weeks at one hundred percent (100%),
then four (4) weeks at seventy-five percent (75%),
then ten (10) weeks at sixty percent (60%) of salary.

Five (5) years or more
- twenty-six (26) weeks at one hundred percent (100%) of salary.

35.03 Casual Illness

Continuous absence due to illness or injury of three (3) working days or less will be called "Casual Illness", and will not require a physician's certificate except where there is excessive use or possible abuse of the Casual Illness provisions. Where there is excessive use or possible abuse of the Casual Illness provisions, medical certificates satisfactory to the University may be required. When a physician's certificate will be required for a Casual Illness absence due to a possible abuse, the supervisor will notify the employee prior to her/his return to work from the absence. In cases where there is possible abuse of the

Casual Illness provisions, the supervisor may also inform the employee that physician's certificates will be required for future Casual Illness absences. When physician's certificates will be required for Casual Illness absences in a case of excessive use, the supervisor must inform the employee in advance that physician's certificates will be required for future Casual Illness absences. All Casual Illness will be recorded on bi-weekly Time and Absence Reports.

35.04 Extended Absence

Extended Absence is more than three (3) consecutive working days absence due to illness or injury. The University may require sick leave in excess of three (3) consecutive working days to be supported by a physician's certificate, satisfactory to the University.

35.05 Claim for Benefit

All Casual Illness or Sick Leave must be supported by a Claim for Casual Illness or Sick Leave Benefit form to be presented on return from the absence. Failure to submit a claim form (with adequate physician's statements as may be required in 35.03 and 35.04 above) will result in subsequent loss of pay for the absence until such documents are provided.

35.06 Notice of Absence

For any of the above sections to be operable, an employee who is unable to come to work because of illness or injury, must advise her/his supervisor by contacting a designated telephone number. prior to the start of her/his shift, except in extenuating circumstances.

35.07 Chronic Absence

In cases of repeated absences or persistent inability to perform duties because of chronic illness, the supervisor may:

- (a) Require that the employee provide a physician's certificate.
- (b) Recommend that the employee be relieved from duty and be required to take sick leave until she/he can produce satisfactory medical evidence that she/he is again fit for regular employment.

35.08 Medical Examinations and Certificates

(a) Should the University require an employee to submit to a medical examination as a condition of employment, the employee may have the examination done by her/his doctor. The medical examination shall be at the University's expense and the employee shall receive a written copy of the doctor's report.

(b) The cost of medica! examinations and physician certificates to support claims for pay under this Article are the responsibility of the employee.

35.09 Holidays During Sick Leave

When a statutory **or** University holiday falls within, or contiguous to a period of paid sick leave, the holiday shall not be assessed against the employee's sick leave.

35.10 Quarantine

Should an employee be placed under quarantine due to the illness of others, benefits shall be paid as sick leave.

(89735.11

Employee Eligibility

(a) All full-time continuing employees.

3° d

- (b) All part-time continuing employees on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours worked in a biweekly pay period.
- 35.12 Medical and Dental Appointments

5.54.9

- (a) Employees are encouraged to arrange medical, physiotherapy and dental appointments on their own time. Otherwise, employees may make arrangements with their supervisors for time off for such appointments with pay, providing make-up time arrangements have been made in advance. Wherever possible, such appointments should be arranged at the beginning or ending of a scheduled shift. If an employee is, or becomes ill at work and must take time off for a doctor's appointment, such time shall be considered casual sick time.
- (b) Employee eligibility: provisions of this Article 35.12 apply to continuing and temporary employees.
- 35.13 Long Term Absences Continuing Part-Time Employees Not Eligible for L.T.D. Insurance
 - (a) Where a continuing part-time employee who is not eligible for Long Term Disability (L.T.D.) insurance in accordance with Article 51.04(b), is absent for a period exceeding her/his sick leave entitlement she/he may preserve her/his employee status and seniority following the expiration of sick leave provided that:
 - (i) she/he continues all applicable health and welfare benefits by paying both employee and employer premiums; and
 - (ii) the absence is supported by a physician's certificate satisfactory to the University.
 - (b) Where employee status is maintained in accordance with 35.13 (a) and the medical prognosis is that the

employee will be able to return to her/his former position within six (6) months of the expiration of sick leave, then the employee's regular position shall be retained. If at any time during the initial sick leave or the six (6) months following sick leave the medical prognosis is that the employee will not likely be able to return to her/his position within six (6) months following sick leave, then the employee shall be permanently replaced in her/his position.

- 35.14 Long Term Absences Continuing Employees Eligible for L.T.D. Insurance
 - (a) Long Term Disability (L.T.D.) Application and Maintenance of Health and Welfare Benefits: Employees who are absent for periods exceeding the twenty-six (26) weeks of sick leave entitlement and who are eligible for L.T.D. insurance in accordance with Article 51.04(b), shall be entitled to apply for L.T.D. benefits. Where an L.T.D. claim is established the University will maintain the applicable health and welfare benefits and will pay both the employee and employer premiums. Where an L.T.D. claim is not established the employee may preserve her/his employee status and seniority, as outlined hereafter, provided that:
 - (i) she/he continues all applicable health and welfare benefits by paying both employee and employer premiums; and
 - (ii) the absence is supported by a physician's certificate satisfactory to the University.
 - (b) Retain former osition: If at the time of application for L.T.D. the medica! **progn**osis is that the employee will be able to return to **her/his** regular position within six (6) months then her/his regular position shall be retained.
 - (c) Replaced in former position: If at anytime during the absence (whether during the initial twenty-six (26) weeks or at the time of application for L.T.D.) the medical prognosis is that the employee will not likely be able to return to her/his position, or if at the time of application for L.T.D. the medical prognosis is that the employee will not likely be able to return to her/his position within six (6) months, then the employee shall be permaneutly replaced in her/his position and the following terms shall govern:
 - (i) the individual shall retain her/his employment status with the University.
 - (ii) the individual's seniority shall be maintained as per Article 12.03(a).
- 35.15 Return to Work Following Long Term Absence

Where an employee has been replaced as provided in 35.13(b) or 35.14(c) above and if the employee's

condition im roves to the degree that she/he is able to work either Full-time or part-time then:

- (i) a medical report satisfactory to the University which supports the return to work must be provided,
- (ii) the employee shall be placed in the first vacant continuing position for which the employee has the necessary qualifications and abilities,
- (iii) if at the time of return to work a continuing vacancy does not exist, the employee may be placed in a temporary position without prejudice to the application of (ii) above,
- (iv) where the position obtained under (ii) or (iii) above is at the same pay grade as the position the employee was replaced in under Article 35.13(b) or 35.14, then the employee will receive a salary at the same step level she/he was at on the last day that she/he was on sick leave.
- (v) where the position obtained under (ii) or (iii) above is at a lower pay grade than the position the employee was replaced in under Article 35.13(b) or 35.14, then the employee's salary will be frozen at the rate of pay for her/his position on the last day she/he was on sick leave, until the job obtained under (ii) or (iii) above has a wage equal to or more than the frozen rate.

35.16 Subrogation

Payment of sick leave or Long Term Disability in the event that the employee's illness or disability is the result of an accident or other event for which a third party may be responsible is subject to the following terms and conditions:

- (a) The employee must submit, as part of any claim, a request for a sum in respect of lost wages.
- (b) If the employee's claim in respect of lost wages is successful, the employee shall be obliged to reimburse the University the amount received from the third party or the actual sick leave benefit received, whichever is lesser.
- (c) The amount in (b) above will be reduced by a portion of the employee's legal fees as determined by the Union and the University. In the event both parties cannot agree on an appropriate amount the matter shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to Article 10.02.

<u> ARTICLE 36 - MATERNITY OR PARENTAL LEAVE</u>

Continuing full-time employees shall be entitled to the following:

36.01 Length of Leave

85 (4x,

(3) Birth Mother A pregnant employee shall be entitled to up to eighteen (18) consecutive weeks of maternity leave and up to twelve (12) consecutive weeks of parental leave, without pay. The parental leave must immediately follow the maternity leave.

> In the event the birth mother dies or is totally disabled, the father of the child shall be entitled to both maternity and parental leave without pay.

(b) Birth Father, Adoptive Parent and Legal Guardian (.s[2

(i) An employee who is the birth father, the adoptive father, the adoptive mother or the legal guardian shall be entitled to up to twelve (12) consecutive weeks of parental leave without pay. The employee shall commence the leave within fifty-two weeks of the care and custody of the employee.

An employee who is the birth father, the adoptive be entitled to an additional eighteen (18) consecutive weeks of personal leave without pay. The personal leave must immediately follow the parental leave.

(c) Extensions - Special Circumstances

An employee shall be entitled to extend the maternity leave by up to an additional six (6) consecutive weeks leave where a physician certifies the employee is unable to return to work for medical reasons related to the birth, provided however, that in no case shall the combined maternity and parental leave exceed thirty-two (32) consecutive weeks following the commencement of such

An employee shall be entitled to extend the parental leave by up to an additional five (5) weeks leave without pay where the child is at least six (6) months of age before coming into the employee's care and custody and if it is certified by a medical practitioner or the agency that placed the child that an additional reriod of parental care is required because the child suffers from a physical, psychological or emotional condition, provided however, that in no case shall the combined parental and personal that in no case shall the combined parental and personal leave exceed thirty-two (32) consecutive weeks following the commencement of such leave.

36.02 Notice Requirements and Commencement of Leave

- (a) An employee who requests parental or personal leave for the adoption or caring of a child shall be required to provide proof of adoption, legal guardianship, or birth of the child.
- (b) An employee shall provide written notice, at least four (4) weeks in advance, of the intended commencement date of the maternity and/or parental leave or the parental and/or personal leave. (In the case of the adoption or the award of legal guardianship of a child, the employee shall provide as much notice as possible.)
- (c) The employee who has been granted maternity, parental or personal leave must provide four (4) weeks notice in writing of the date she/he intends to return to work.
- (d) An employee who wishes to return to work within six (6) weeks following the actual date of birth may be required to provide a certificate from a medical practitioner stating the employee is able to return to work.
- (e) Where a pregnant employee gives birth before requesting maternity leave or before commencing maternity leave, her maternity leave will be deemed to have started on the date she gave birth.

36.03 Return to Work

- (a) On resuming employment from maternity, from parental or from personal leave the employee shall be reinstated in all **respects** in her/his position previously occupied by the **employee**.
- (b) On resuming employment from maternity or from parental leave an employee shall have the leave time counted as service for all benefit entitlements and vacation purposes.

36.04 Sick Leave

An employee on maternity leave shall be entitled to paid sick leave, for illnesses related to the pregnancy or birth, occurring during the leave, upon presentation of a medical certificate.

36.05 Benefits

(a) Benefits shall continue uninterrupted during the period of time the employee is on maternity or parental leave provided that the employee makes arrangements prior to commencing the leave to pay her/his share of the benefit premiums for that period where the premiums are cost shared.

(b) When a continuing employee takes personal leave, she/he will make arrangements to pay one hundred (100) percent of the benefit costs.

36.06 Reimbursement Following Return to Work

Six (6) months after an employee's return to work from maternity or parental leave the University shall reimburse in a lump sum the difference between the E.I. Maternity or Parental benefit received and the employee's normal salary for the duration of the E.I. Maternity or Parental benefit period.

36.07 Maternity or Parental Leave for Continuing Part-time Employees

Continuing part-time employees shall receive maternity or parental benefits on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours worked in the standard bi-weekly pay period. If a continuing part-time employee meets all eligibility requirements for E.I. Maternity or Parental benefits except for the minimum hours requirement, then six (6) months following her/his return to work she/he shall be reimbursed a lump sum of forty (40) percent of her/his normal wages for the duration of the normal E.I. Maternity or Parental benefit period.

ARTICLE 37 - DAY CARE

The Union shall have one (1) representative who will have access to regularly scheduled monthly meetings with the Day Care Coordinator. The Union Day Care Representative shall be permitted time off from work with pay for attendance at the aforementioned meetings.

An employee with a child or children in the S.F.U. Day Care Centre may be permitted time off from work with pay for her/his 'duty shift" in the Day Care Centre, with the understanding that the employee makes arrangements, with her/his supervisor, to make up the time.

ARTICLE 38 - COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

38.01 Definition

1 I.

When death or serious illness strikes a close family member or close friend of an employee, up to five (5) days compassionate leave with pay may be granted at the discretion of the supervisor.

This leave shall not be unreasonably withheld.

38.02 Employee Eligibility

(a) Full-time continuing employees.

(b) Part-time continuing and temporary employees who shall receive pay on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours worked in the bi-weekly pay period immediately preceding the compassionate leave.

ARTICLE 39 - ELECTIONS

Employees eligible to vote in a federal, provincial, municipal or regional election, referendum, or plebiscite shall be rovided sufficient time off, without loss of pay, to provide four (4) clear hours for the purpose of attending a polling centre before or following the employee's work period.

ARTICLE 40 - COURT DUTY

40.01 Witness or Jury Duty

An employee required by subpoena, or summons, to appear as a witness or to serve as a jury member shall receive salary maintenance for that time required to be in court or at a hearing for the days on which she/he would otherwise have worked. The employee shall turn over to the University any money, other than expenses, paid to her/him by the Crown for those days the employee would normally have worked. An employee summonsed by the Union or its representatives to appear as a witness shall be granted Personal Leave without pay for such purpose. The supervisor will be informed as far in advance as possible.

40.02 Civil Suit

When an employee is to appear either as plaintiff or defendant in a civil suit, she/he shall be allowed Personal Leave without pay for such purpose. The supervisor will be informed as far in advance as possible.

40.03 Court Proceedings Against an Employee

When an employee is charged with an offense and is required to attend a hearing or is held in custody pending hearing of charges, the employee shall be allowed Personal Leave without pay. The supervisor will be informed as far in advance as possible.

ARTICLE 41 - CHANGE OF DOMICILE

During the term of this Agreement, continuing employees who are changing their place of residence shall be allowed leave, with pay, not exceeding one (1) day for the purpose of moving their household effects. Continuing part-time employees shall be entitled to take a whole day off; but they shall be paid on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours which would normally have been

worked by the employee in the bi-weekly period within which the change of residence takes place.

ARTICLE 42 - SENATE OR BOARD OF GOVERNORS APPOINTMENTS

Employees elected or appointed to positions on the Senate, Board of Governors, or any other such University body shall be provided with time off with pay for attending meetings, during scheduled working hours.

If Senate or Board of Governors' meetings go beyond ten o'clock (2200 hours), such elected or appointed employees will be given four (4) hours off, with pay, the following morning.

ARTICLE 43 - PERSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

Employees may make regress for personal leave without pay, and such requests should be made as far in advance as possible, however it is understood that in cases of personal emergency, advance notice may not be possible.

ARTICLE 44 - EXTENDED LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

44.01 Applications and Procedures

(a) An **employee** may **apply** for a personal leave of absence without pay **exceeding** twenty (20) working days but generally not to exceed one (1) **year in** length; to **be** granted for, but not limited to, the following:

(i) Pt

- (i) Public Office
- (ii) Educational Purposes
- (iii) Other Personal Reasons.

(b) Applications shall be submitted to the supervisor giving twenty (20) working days notice. The supervisor will reply to such re uest within ten (10) working days. In cases of persona? emergency, requirement of such notice may be waived. Such requests will be subject to the ability of the respective department to accommodate the leave of absence, but granting will not be unreasonably withheld.

Subject to the above, such requests will only be granted if it is the employee's clear intent to return to work at the University.

(c) An employee taking advantage of a leave of absence shall retain all rights and privileges of the contract, except as specified elsewhere in this Agreement.

- (d) Upon return to work the employee shall be placed in her/his former position.
- (e) A temporary employee hired to replace someone on extended leave will receive benefits and pay in lieu of benefits in accordance with Article 52. Upon return of the person on extended leave, the replacement employee shall not be able to displace another employee with less seniority, but shall be placed on the laid off list.
- (f) A letter of agreement between the parties (University, Union, Employee) shall be signed covering details of the leave.
- (g) Accrual of Seniority Ref. Article 12.03.
- (h) A letter of agreement signed for extended leave without pay (see 44.01(f) above) will be in effect until its expiry date.

44.02 Paid Holiday During Leave

Where a holiday falls within a period of personal leave (i.e. leave of absence without pay), a continuing employee shall receive pay for the holiday provided the employee has earned wages for at least fifteen (15) days during the thirty (30) calendar days immediately preceding the holiday.

44.03 Continuance of Employee Benefits

When a continuing employee takes a leave of absence, she/he will make arrangements to pay one hundred (100) percent of the benefit costs.

44.04 Reimbursement Following Return to Work

A continuing employee returning to work from a leave of absence not exceeding four (4) months in duration, shall be reimbursed for the University's portion of the benefit package.

ARTICLE 45 - PURCHASE AND MAINTENANCE OF FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

The University shall consult affected employees prior to the purchase of office equipment, furniture and/or tools. The University shall keep all such equipment, furniture and tools in good working condition.

ARTICLE 46 - SAFETY AND WORKING CONDITIONS

46.01 Workers' Compensation Board Standards

The University shall maintain safe working conditions for all employees as provided within the Workers' Compensation Board standards.

46.02 University Safety Committee

The Union shall have at least one (1) seat on the University Safety Committee.

46.03 Other Related Committees

> The Union shall have representation on other committees that concern any employee's safety and working conditions.

46.04 Unsafe Conditions

> After notifyin her/his immediate supervisor and the University Safety Officer, an employee may refuse, without loss of pay, to work under conditions she/he considers unsafe, until the University Safety Officer has checked the condition and reported to the department and the employee(s) involved. Upon written request, a written confirmation of such oral report shall be made to the department(s) and the employee(s) involved within one (1) working day.

46.05 Video Display Terminals

- (a) For the purposes of (b) through (d) below "Video Display Terminal" (VDT) shall mean a terminal which uses a cathode ray tube.
- (b) For all employees who work at video display terminals, a ten **(10)** minute alternate work assignment as a visual relief shall be allowed after each hour of continuous operation on a VDT.
- (c) An employee whose work requires or will require regular and consistent use of VDT's shall be entitled to two (2) hours off work without loss of pay once each calendar year for an eye examination by an ophthalmologist.

(d) A pregnant employee or an employee who notifies the (d) A pregnant employee or an employee who notifies the University in writing of her intent to conceive shall not be required to operate VDT's against her will and such an employee (i) may elect to take alternative work which may be offered by the University, or (ii) if she is a continuing employee, shall be granted an Extended Leave Without Pay under the provisions of Article 44 except 44.01(b); the above options to last until the commencement of Maternity Leave for a continuing employee or until the termination date of a temporary employee's assignment. employee's assignment.

46.06 Joint Working Conditions Committee

> The parties will form a joint committee with equal representation to review working conditions and to recommend changes to correct conditions found detrimental to the mental or physical health of an employee.

ARTICLE 47 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT

47.01 Where Required

The University shall provide, at no cost, protective apparel and equipment where such is regired by the Workers' Compensation Board or where de University Safety Officer, the University Safety Committee, or Department of Health has determined them necessary for the personal safety of employees.

The University shall provide, at no cost, protective clothing in areas determined by the University or the Joint Working Conditions Committee to present hazards to the personal clothing of employees.

47.02 Repair or Replacement of Damaged Clothing

Where an employee's clothing is damaged or destroyed as the result of an activity re uired in the performance of that job; and it is determine8 that:

- (a) the employee was wearing the provided protective apparel
- (b) the employee was employing approved procedures and adhering to the necessary precautions considering the circumstances
- (c) it is the first occasion of such an accident with the em loyee, or subsequent occasion of such an accident wil the employee when conditions or procedures for the performance of the job were not altered by the University
- (d) where an employee was not wearing safety apparel because none was available,

then the University shall bear the cost of repair or replacement of such clothing.

47.03 Specified Clothing to be Provided

When the University requires employees to wear specific clothing (i.e. uniforms, safety shoes, etc.) such will be provided at no cost to the employees.

ARTICLE 48 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

48.01 Purpose

The purpose of the following provisions is to preserve job security and stabilize employment and to protect employees from loss of employment.

48.02 Definition

For the purpose of this Agreement the term "technological change" shall mean:

r † 2

- (a) the introduction by the University of equipment or material or methods of operation different from the equipment or material or methods of operation previously utilized; or
- (b) a change related to the introduction of this equipment or material or methods of operation;

where the change or changes as defined in (a) and (b) above affect the terms and conditions of employment of a significant number of employees or the security of employment of one (1) or more employees.

Any employee shall be considered displaced by technological change when her/his services are no longer required in the same capacity, as a result of change in the method of operation or equipment, intended to provide the same productivity with fewer employees required to operate the department in which she/he is employed.

48.03 Notice of Intent



The University shall provide the Union with written notice of intention to introduce technological change. Such notice shall be given as far in advance as possible, but not less than three (3) months prior to the intended date of implementation.

The University shall supply full and complete information to the Union in the notice including:

- (a) the nature of the change;
- (b) the date on which the University proposes to affect the change;
- (c) the approximate number, type and location of employees likely to be affected by the change;
- (d) the effects the changes may be expected to have on the employees working conditions and terms of employment; and
- (e) all other pertinent data relating to the anticipated effects on employees.

48.04 Consultation



Where the University has provided the Union with notice under 48.03 the parties will meet within ten (10) working days and shall have an additional twenty (20) working days to hold constructive and meaningful consultations in an attempt to reach agreement on solutions to the

problems arising from this intended technological change prior to the intended date of implementation.

The time limits in this Article 48.04 may be altered by mutual written consent of both parties.

48.05 Notice to Employee

2.5

Employees about to be displaced as a result of technological change shall be given notice of intent to layoff and shall be eligible to be retrained, involuntarily transferred or laid off with severance pay as provided in this Agreement.

48.06 Retraining, Involuntary Transfer and Layoff

19.48

- (a) Employees whose positions are discontinued or reduced under the provisions of this Article shall be eligible for retraining to equip them for the operation of such new equipment or procedure, or minimal retraining to qualify for transfer to another position. Such retraining will be provided by the University without cost and without loss of pay or loss of seniority to the affected employee(s).
- (b) Where the above is **not possible**, the employee shall then be eligible for the **involuntary** transfer and laid off procedure (14.03).

48.07 Severance Pay and Layoff



- (a) Employees whose positions are discontinued or reduced under the provisions of this Article and laid off shall receive thirteen (13) weeks' notice or pay in lieu of notice, plus severance pay of one (1) weeks pay for each year's service up to twelve (12) years (i.e. maximum twelve (12) weeks' pay).
- (b) After six (6) weeks following receipt of the laid off notice an employee may terminate employment without loss of the above benefits for the purpose of upgrading skills to attain gainful employment.
- (c) Following the thirteen (13) weeks' notice or if **given** pay in lieu of notice the laid off employee shall be **placed** on the laid off list except as provided in (b) above.
- (d) the severance pay to which the employee is entitled shall be paid out in bi-weekly installments equivalent to the salary received prior to being laid off, while the employee remains on the laid off list. If the employee is recalled or accepts other University employment, severance pay, if still due, will cease on the last working day prior to the commencement of such employment with the University.

ARTICLE 49 - ARTICLE HEADINGS

Headings shall be used for purposes of reference only, and may not be used as an aid in the interpretation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 50 - OFF CAMPUS DUTY

50.01 Travel Accident Insurance

The University shall provide, without cost to the employee, travel accident insurance covering accidental death and dismemberment for employees, while they are travelling away from their work site on University business.

The coverage provided is in the **principal** sum of one hundred and fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000) for accidental death and dismemberment indemnity (policy details available on request). The University will provide a copy of the insurance policy to the Union.

The foregoing outline is in accordance with the provisions of the insurance contract but does not confer any contractual or other rights. All rights with respect to the benefits of an insured person will be governed solely by the policy.

50.02 Travel Expenses

- (a) Transportation Arrangements: Employees required to travel away from their work site in the course of their duties shall have transportation arranged for them
 - (i) by public carrier, using prepaid tickets, vouchers or through reimbursement
 - (ii) through vehicle rental
 - (iii) through use of the employee's personal vehicle with reimbursement at the rate established for the University community.

No employee on payroll on November 24, 1997 will be obligated to provide a vehicle for carrying out the duties of the position she/he occupied on that date if her/his position does not require a vehicle.

- (b) Equipment Allowance: When employees are required to carry over two hundred (200) pounds of equipment in a personal vehicle, an additional five cents (\$.05) per mile will be paid.
- (c) Business Insurance: When an employee operates her/his private vehicle on University business to the extent that business insurance is required by ICBC, she/he will be reimbursed for the difference between the cost of insuring the vehicle for the appropriate business

coverage and the cost of insuring the vehicle for driving back and forth to work.

- (d) Special Cargo Insurance: If private vehicles are required to be used to carry special cargo which requires the owner to obtain special insurance, the University will bear the additional cost of such insurance.
- (e) Meals Paid: When an employee's duties away from her/his work site extend over meal breaks, those meals shall be paid for by the University within reasonable limits. Consideration must be given to food costs where the employee is working.
- (f) Accommodation Paid: When an employee's duties require her/him to stay over night from her/his regular domicile, the University shall reimburse the employee for costs incurred for accommodation.

Lodging shall be single room accommodation unless this is not available.

- (g) Travel Expenses Equal: When an employee is required to travel on University business, she/he will receive the same travel expenses as other members of the University community.
- (h) Travel Time: Travel time shall, where possible, be during regular working hours.
- (i) Other Expenses: Reasonable expenses, other than those of a personal nature, shall be reimbursed by the University.

ARTICLE 51 - BENEFIT PLANS

51.01 Medical Service Plan



- (a) The University will maintain the Medical Service Plan for all eligible employees. The plan is provided by the Medical Services Plan of British Columbia. Participation and coverage is in accordance with the Medical Services Act and Regulations.
- (b) Continuing employees are eli ible for coverage under this plan commencing on the first day of the month following employment in a continuing position or the date established by the Medical Services Plan of British Columbia, whichever is later.
- (c) The University will pay the required premium for this plan and will deduct twenty-five (25) percent of the premium from the employee's pay.
- 51.02 Extended Health Benefits Plan



(a) The University will maintain an extended health benefits plan for all eligible employees. The operation of

this plan will be governed solely by the master agreement between the University and the plan carrier.

- (b) Continuing employees who are covered by a basic medical plan are eligible for coverage under this plan commencing on first day of the month following employment in a continuing position.
- (c) The University will pay the required premium for this plan.

(d) Eligible expenses will be subject to an annual twenty-five (25 dollars deductible. After the deductible has been satisfied, reimbursement will be eighty (80) percent. Corrective vision reimbursement is limited to a maximum payable of two hundred (200) dollars, in any twenty-four (24) month period. Eligible expenses will include up to five hundred (500) dollars per year per member or dependent of fees for a podiatrist, registered clinical psychologist, or chiropractor. The lifetime maximum aggregate amount payable by the plan carrier is limited to one million (1,000,000.00) dollars per person for group extended health care benefits under all agreements with the carrier.

51.03 Dental Plan

(a) The University will maintain a dental care plan for all eligible employees. The plan will be governed solely by the master agreement between the University and the plan carrier.

(b) Continuing employees who work a minimum of thirty-five (35) hours bi-weekly are eligible for coverage commencing on the first day of the month following three (3) months of continuous employment in a continuing position. Application for coverage must be made prior to the last day of the fifth (5th) month of continuous employment in a continuing position. New dependents must be enrolled within sixty (60) days of becoming eligible for coverage.

If an employee who is eligible for dental plan coverage elects not to join the plan or to discontinue coverage under the plan she/he must complete a dental refusal form or a dental discontinuation form available from Human Resources. If the employee is refusing or discontinuing coverage because the employee and her/his dependents are covered under another dental plan, then if coverage under the alternate plan is lost, the employee may join the University dental plan provided that:

(i) application to join or rejoin the University dental plan is made no later than one (1) month following the loss of coverage under the alternate plan (proof of loss of coverage must be provided to the University);

10EA

- (ii) the employee and her/his dependents remain eligible for coverage under the University dental plan in all other respects.
- (c) The University will pay the required premium for the dental plan and will deduct thirty-five (35) percent of the premium from the employee's pay.
- (d) The dental plan will provide a benefit of ei hty (80) percent of Part A (basic), fifty (50) percent of Part B (major and restorative) and fifty (50) percent of Part C (orthodontia). Part C is limited to a lifetime maximum of two thousand (2000) dollars per person.

51.04 Long Term Disability and Life Insurance Plans

- (a) The University shall maintain long term disability insurance and group life insurance for all eligible employees. The operation of these plans shall be governed solely by the master agreements between the University and the plan carriers.
- (b) Continuing employees who work a minimum of thirty-five. (35) hours biweekly are eligible for coverage commencing on the first day of employment in a continuing position.
- (c) The University shall pay the required premiums for the long term disability insurance and the basic coverage of the group life insurance plan. Eligible employees may elect to contribute to additional benefits coverage under the group life insurance plan as provided for in the plan.
- (d) The long term disability plan will provide a benefit of seventy (70) percent of basic regular annual earnings payable after a waiting period of twenty-six (26) weeks. The basic life insurance will provide coverage equal to one (1) times basic annual earnings rounded to the next higher multiple of one thousand (1000) dollars, if not already a multiple.

51.05 Pension Plans

(a) Canada Pension: Provisions, payment of premiums, payroll deductions, and eligibility shall be as provided by the Government of Canada Regulations.

(b) University Pension Plan:

- (i) The Simon Fraser University Pension Plan for Professional, Administrative, and Support Staff shall be maintained for all eligible employees.
- (ii) The contributions to the basic plan shall be paid by the University for all eligible emp oyees.

5000

- (iii) Eligible employees may elect to contribute to other benefits provided by the plan as provided for in the plan.
- (iv) The operation of this plan is governed solely by the master agreement between the University and the pension plan trustees.
- (v) Employees eligible: Full-time continuing employees and part-time continuing employees in accordance with the provisions of the plan.

51.06 Workers' compensation

- (a) Employee eligibility and premiums are as provided for in Government of British Columbia Regulations covering Workers' Compensation.
- (b) Employees who are absent from work for an illness or injury which may be covered by the Workers' Compensation Board will have their salary maintained in accordance with Article 35 Sick Leave, provided they make appropriate application for Workers' Compensation Board benefits. Any and all Workers' Compensation Board Wage Loss Compensation payments shall then go directly to the University. In the event that the employee's bi-weekly salary under Sick Leave Entitlement falls below the Wage Loss Compensation payment; then the above shall cease and the employee shall receive the Wage Loss Compensation payment.

This Article 51.06(b) applies to:

- (i) Full-time continuing employees.
- (ii) Part-time continuing employees.

51.07 Employment Insurance

Employee eligibility, payment of premiums, and payroll deductions will be as provided for in the Government of Canada regulations governing Employment Insurance.

51.08 Master Agreements

The University shall supply the Union with copies of Master Agreements as **they** are changed or amended governing the benefits referred to in this Article 51, as they pertain to members of the bargaining unit.

51.09 Joint Benefits Committee

The parties agree to maintain a standing joint committee which will meet at the request of either party. The committee will discuss any matter related to the benefits contained in this agreement.

51.10 Benefit Statements

An annual, detailed benefit statement shall be provided to each continuing employee who has active payroll status at the time that the benefit statements are produced.

51.11 Liability Insurance

Employees shall be covered by the University's liability insurance in accordance with the terms of the policies.

51.12 Employee and Family Assistance Plan

The University shall maintain an Employee and Family Assistance program for use by continuing employees; their spouses, and their dependents as defined in the plan.

ARTICLE 52 - TEMPORARY EMPLOYFE BENEFITS AND PAY IN LIEU OF BENEFITS

52.01 Benefit Entitlement

- (a) Temporary Employees will be entitled to the following benefits:
 - (i) Compassionate Leave in accordance with Article 38
 - (ii) Witness or Jury Duty Leave in accordance with Article 40.01
- (b) During the first four months of continuous employment in any position, a temporary employee shall receive nine (9) percent of her/his straight time hourly rate of pay (as calculated from the salaries in the wage appendices) in lieu of all benefits (except those noted in (a) above), for all regular hours worked in the temporary position. After four (4) continuous months in the same position, a temporary employee shall receive sixteen (16) percent of her/his straight time hourly rate of pay in lieu of all benefits except those previously noted for all further regular hours worked in the temporary position for as long as the temporary employee remains continuously employed in the same position.

ARTICLE 53 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND WAGE RATES

53.01 Wage Schedules

Wage provisions are effective in accordance with the salary schedules in Appendices A-1 through A-4.

53.02 Hourly Rates

Hourly rates may be computed as the biweekly rate divided by seventy (70).

ARTICLE 54 - TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT

54.01 Effective Dates and Duration of Agreement

The terms of this Agreement shall be binding and will remain in effect from the date of signing to March 31, 1992.

54.02 Changes During Duration of Agreement

Any changes deemed necessary under this Agreement may be made by mutual consent at any time during the life of this Agreement. Any such agreed **changes** shall be incorporated into this Agreement as an addendum.

54.03 Amendment to Agreement

Notice to amend the Agreement following its expiry date shall be given in writing by either party to the other party, at any time within four (4) months prior to the expiry date. Failing agreement to amend by March 31, 1999 this Agreement will continue in force until a new agreement is reached.

ARTICLE 55 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The University shall provide the Union with:

- (a) a reconciliation of the approved operating budget and projected comparative results at the end of each fiscal year following a review of the information by the Board of Governors; and
- (b) an accounting of salary expenses (including estimates of benefit costs) for each employee group when available following the end of each fiscal year.

APPENDIX A

SALARY GRADES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

Grade

- 0 Utility Clerk
- 1 General Clerk
- 2 Clerk Clerk Typist Library Assistant Typist

Note: The above group of classifications at pay grade 2 does not apply to employees occupying continuing positions or temporary full-time positions

- 3 Clerk
 Clerk Typist
 Library Assistant
 Typist
 Cashier
 Clerk
 Clerk Steno
 Clerk Typist
 Typist
- 4 Duplicating Equipment Operator
 Library Assistant
 Switchboard Operator
 Technician
 Typist
 Word Processing Operator
- 5 Clerk
 Clerk Steno
 Clerk Typist
 Data Conversion Operator
 Secretary
 Word Processing Operator
- 6 Clerk
 Computer Operator
 Control Clerk
 Data Conversion Operator
 Duplicating Equipment Operator
 Library Assistant
 Secretary
 Technician
 Typist
 Word Processing Operator
- 7 Clerk Data Conversion Operator Duplicating Equipment Operator

Program Assistant Stores Clerk

- 8 Buyer
 Computer Operator
 Departmental Resource Specialist
 Financial Aid Advisor
 Information Specialist
 Library Assistant
 Maintenance Scheduler
 Program Assistant
 Programmer
 Secretary
 Technician
- 9 Buyer Financial Aid Advisor Library Assistant Technician
- 1 0 Building Technologist Computer Operator Programmer Analyst Technician
- 1 1 Project Planner Senior Building Technologist Technician
- 1 2 Computer Operator Programmer Analyst

These position titles are intended as a guideline only and do not constitute an exhaustive list of all positions within the C.U.P.E. Local 3338 bargaining unit.

APPENDIX A-1

C.U.P.E. LOCAL 3338 WJQ Salary Schedule, November 30, 1997

GRADE	PATE	START	6 MOS	12 MOS	18 MOS	24 MOS	30 MOS
0	Hourty	9.11					
-	Hourly	10.77					
2	Hourly /	12.87				-	
3	Biweekly [062.27	973.43	994.59	1015.76	1036.92	1058.08
4	Biweekly	T014.16	1036.69	1059.24	1081.78	1104.31	1126.85
5	Biweekty	1080.08	1104.09	1128.09	1152.09	1176.09	1200.09
9	Biweekty	1150.30	1175.85	1201.42	1226.98	1252.54	1278.10
7	Biweekly	1225.06	1252.29	1279.51	1306.73	1333.96	1361.18
8	Biweekty	1304.69	1333.67	1362.68	1391.67	1420.67	1449.65
Ø	Biweekly	1389.51	1420.38	1451.26	1482.13	1513.01	1543.89
10	Biweekly	1479.81	1512.70	1545.58	1578.47	1611.34	1644.24
=	Biweekly	1575.99	1611.02	1646.05	1681.06	1716.09	1751.11
12	Biweekly	1678.44	1715.74	1753.04	1790.34	1827.64	1864 93

APPENDIX A-2 C.U.P.E. LOCAL 3338 WJQ Salary Schedule, March 31 1999

GRADE	RATE	START	e MOS	12 MOS	18 MOS	24 MOS	30 MOS
0	Hourly	9.20					
F	Hourty	10.88					
2	Hourty	13.00	9				
3	Biweekty	961.79	983.16	1004.54	1025.92	1047.29	1068.66
4	Biweekly	1024.30	1047.06	1069.83	1092.60	1115.35	1138.12
5	Biweekty	1090.88	1115.13	1139.37	1163.61	1187.85	1212.09
9	Biweekty	1161.80	1187.61	1213.43	1239.25	1265.07	1290.88
7	Biweekly	1237.31	1264.81	1292.31	1319.80	1347.30	1374.79
80	Biweekly	1317.74	1347.01	1376.31	1405.59	1434.88	1464.15
6	Biweekly	1403.41	1434.58	1465.77	1496.95	1528.14	1559.33
10	Biweekly	1494.61	1527.83	1561.04	1594.25	1627.45	1680.68
1	Biweekly	1591.75	1627.13	1662.51	1697.87	1733.25	1768.62
12	Biweekly	1695.22	1732.90	1770.57	180R 24	1845 92	1883 58

APPENDIX A-3 C.U.P.E. LOCAL 3338,

Salary Schedule for Anomalized Positions, November 30, 1997

SOACE	THYO	100					
2	7	S S	6 K C S	12 MOS	18 MON 81	24 MOS	001106
0	Hourk	9.11				Som E	SOM SS
1	Hourly	10.77					
2	Hourty	12.87					
3	Biweekly	932.64	953.13	973.61	994 10	1014 60	1001
4	Biweekty	972.99	994.56	1016.11	1037.67	1050 95	1035.07
2	Biweekty	1031.11	1053.74	1076.38	1000	4 9 4 8 4 8 4	1000.00
9	Biweekty	1091.58	1116.38	1141 17	1185 96	1100 77	1144.30
7	Biweeldy	1165.18	1192.13	1219 DR	1946 04	4070 00	1215.56
8	Biweekty	1248.22	1277.34	1306 44	1225 54	12/2.98	1299.94
6	Biweekty	1352.63	1389.36	1426.78	1464 12	1504.05	1393.76
10	Biweekty	1439.21	1479.58	1518.72	1557.89	1597 06	1536.90
1	Biweekty	1516.24	1556.23	1596.28	1636.34	1676.39	1716.13
12	Biweekly	1619.36	1662.28	1705.20	1748.06	1701 01	1000

APPENDIX A-4 C.U.P.E. LOCAL 3338,

Salary Schedule for Anomalized Positions, March 31, 1999

GRADE	RATE	START	6 MOS	12 MOS	18 MOS	24 MOS	30 MOS
0	Hourly	9.20					
-	Hourty	10.88					
2	Hourly	13.00					
ო	Biweekly	941.97	962.66	983.35	1004.04	1024.74	1045.42
4	Biweekly	982.72	1004.51	1026.27	1048.05	1069.84	1091.61
2	Biweekly	1041.42	1064.28	1087.14	1110.01	1132.89	1155.74
ၒ	Biweekty	1102.50	1127.54	1152.58	1177.62	1202.68	1227.72
7	Biweekly	1176.83	1204.05	1231.27	1258.50	1285.71	1312.94
œ	Biweekly	1260.70	1290.11	1319.50	1348.90	1378.30	1407.70
Ø	Biweekly	1366.16	1403.25	1441.05	1478.76	1516.54	1554.29
10	Biweekly	1453.60	1494.38	1533.91	1573.47	1613.03	1652.55
=	Biweekly	1531.40	1571.79	1612.24	1652.70	1693.15	1733.63
12	Biweekly	1635.55	1678.90	1722.25	1765.54	1808.92	1852.25

APPENDIX B

STEP TWO UNION GRIEVANCE FORM

Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 3338 and Simon Fraser University

GRIEVOR(S) and DEPARTMENT(S):
ARTICLES VIOLATED:	
ARTICLES VIOLATED:	
DESCRIPTION OF GRIEVANCE_	
	_
SETTLEMENT REQUIRED:	
Pate & Time of Step One Meeting:	
articipants at Step One Meeting:	
Date:	Time:
Grievor	Steward
	Die nui u

 ${\tt COPIES}$ TO: Supervisor, University Officer, Manager, Employee Relations, Grievor, Steward, Union Office.

APPENDIX C

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The parties agree that without prejudice or precedent, a special grade I continuing position will be created in the Animal Care Facility and will be filled by an individual with a mental handicap. The position will not be posted, but will be filled with the assistance of Jobs West and/or other community agencies which assist with the placement of mentally handicapped people. All of the other provisions in the collective agreement shall apply to this position and the incumbent.

If the position is vacated, the University must consult with the Union prior to filling the position again. If, at that time, either party does not wish to continue with this agreement or if either party wishes to amend the agreement, this Letter of Agreement will terminate.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
Janine Lauer	John Bannister
November 9, 1993	November 23, 1993
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect November 23, 1993.

APPENDIX D

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

WJQ (Custom) and Pay Equity

Upon ratification of the Memorandum of Agreement or upon approval of the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors, whichever occurs last, implementation of WJQ Custom job evaluation for all positions in the bargaining unit shall begin.

If the Provincial Government approves the WJQ (Custom) job evaluation system and results for pay equity funding, all continuing employees who are on Payroll when the provisions in this Memorandum come into effect shall be eligible for the retroactive implementation of the results of the WJQ Custom job evaluation system.

1. The target salary schedule for WJQ will be as follows:

GRADE	WJO Points	START	6 MOS	12 MOS	18 MOS	24 MOS	30 MOS
0		8.88					
1		10.49					
2		12.54					
3	249 - 299	927,99	948.61	969.23	989.86	1010.48	1031.10
4	300 - 350	988.31	1010.27	1032.23	1054.20	1076.16	1098.12
5	351 - 401	1052.55	1075,94	1099.33	1122.72	1146.11	1169.50
6	402 - 452	1120.97	1145.88	1170.79	1195.70	1220.61	1245.52
7	453 - 503	1193.83	1220.36	1246.89	1273.42	1299.95	1326.48
8	504 - 554	1271.43	1299.68	1327.94	1356.19	1384.45	1412.70
9	555 - 605	1354.08	1384.17	1414.26	1444,35	1474.44	1504.53
10	606 - 656	1442.09	1474.13	1506.18	1538,23	1570.27	1602.32
1 1	657 - 707	1535.82	1569.95	1604.08	1638.21	1672.34	1706.47
12	708 and up	1635.65	1672.00	1708.35	1744.69	1781.04	1817.39

2. The target salary for any employee who occupies or occupied a position which will remain at the same grade or a position which will move to a higher grade as a result of WJQ evaluations shall be the step occupied on the current salary scale, but on the appropriate grade in the WJQ salary schedule. However, reaching

that target salary for all such employees will be accomplished in phases as follows.

Phase 1 - Retroactive to April 1, 1993, 2.81% will be applied to the normal straight time salary (based on the current salary schedule in Appendix A-3) which was paid to each employee who is eligible to move to the WJQ salary schedule; this will result in a figure which will be known as the April 1, 1993 calculated salary. For the period from April 1, 1993 to March 31, 1994 each of these employees will be retroactively paid the lower of either the April 1, 1993 calculated salary or the target salary for each position held over the period.

Phase 2 - Retroactive to April 1, 1994, 0.46% will be applied to the April 1, 1993 calculated salary for each employee who has not yet reached her/his target salary and this will result in a figure which will be known as the April 1, 1994 calculated salary. For the period from April 1, 1994 to March 31, 1995 each of these employees will be paid the lower of either the April 1, 1994 calculated salary or the target salary for each position held since April 1, 1994.

<u>Phases 3 to 6</u> - The following funds will be applied to the future implementation of WJQ:

- 1.0% of total 1994/95 payroll for CUPE staff effective April 1,1995;
- 1.0% of total 1995/96 payroll for CUPE staff effective April 1,1996;
- -1.0% of total 1996/97 payroll for CUPE staff effective April 1,1997; and
- up to 1.0% of total 1997/98 payroll for CUPE staff effective April 1, 1998 until all eligible employees have moved to their target salaries. The funds which are available in these latter 4 phases will be applied to individual salaries in the same manner as in the first 2 phases of implementation.
- 3. Employees who occupy positions which are identified as anomalies as a result of WJQ evaluations (i.e. the positions are evaluated to be at a lower grade than currently assigned) shall remain on the current salary schedule in their current grade and shall continue to receive step increases and general wage increases which are applicable to that schedule.
- 4. Employees who were involuntarily transferred on April 1, 1993 or earlier and who, as a result of the transfer, are being paid at a grade which is higher than the WJQ grade for the position they currently occupy will remain at their current grade and step on the current salary schedule, but may be eligible for salary increases in the future in accordance with Article 14.06(b).

An employee who was involuntarily transferred on April 2, 1993 or later will be eligible for any retroactive salary increase (as outlined in Phase 1 and Phase 2 of point number 2 above) which is applicable to her/his former position for a period when that position was occupied by the employee. If the salary of the employee in the former position (including any applicable retroactive increase) on the day before the involuntary transfer is higher than the appropriate **WJQ** implementation salary for the involuntary transfer position on the day of the transfer, then the employee's salary will be governed by Article 14.06(b) from the date of the involuntary transfer.

- 5. Employees who occupy positions which were evaluated under WJQ (Custom) prior to the effective date of the Memorandum of Agreement, shall have thirty (30) working days from the date the Memorandum of Agreement is ratified by the Union membership or approved by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors, whichever occurs last, to make a written request for appeal under Article 17.09 of the collective agreement. All such appeals must be based on the job descriptions and job questionnaires which were originally submitted for the positions. Final decisions must be made on all appeals raised under this point number 5 by no later than June 1, 1995. Any retroactive pay resulting from such appeals will be paid from the money which is made available by the Provincial Government for Phase 3 of the WJQ implementation plan. Therefore, Phase 3 funds will only be distributed after the results of Appeals under this point number 5 are known.
- 6. Until WJQ target salaries are fully implemented new continuing positions will be evaluated under both the old classification job evaluation system and the WJQ system. If the grade assigned is lower under WJQ than under the old classification system, then the individual hired, promoted, or transferred into the position will be paid at the appropriate grade on the target WJQ salary schedule. If the grade assigned under WJQ is the same as or higher than the grade assigned under the old classification system, then the individual hired, promoted, or transferred into the position will be paid the salary appropriate to the position based on the stage of implementation of WJQ as outlined above.
- 7. Evaluation of temporary positions under WJQ will begin when the provisions in the Memorandum of Agreement come into effect. Only temporary positions which have not been filled when the Memorandum comes into effect will be evaluated under WJQ. Until WJQ target salaries are fully implemented for continuing positions, new temporary positions will be evaluated under both the old classification job evaluation system and under WJQ. If the grade

assigned is lower under WJQ than under the old classification system, then the individual hired, promoted, or transferred into the temporary position will be paid at the appropriate grade on the target WJQ salary schedule. If the grade assigned under WJQ is the same as or higher than the grade assigned under the old classification system, then the individual hired, promoted, or transferred into the temporary position will be paid the salary appropriate to the position based on the stage of implementation of WJQ as outlined above.

The WJQ evaluation of a temporary position which will initially be filled for three (3) months or less will be based on a description of the duties and responsibilities of the position (written on the Personnel Action Requisition), and a WJQ Custom Part 11: Job Questionnaire which will be completed by the supervisor. The WJQ evaluation of a temporary position which will initially be filled for greater than three (3) months will be based on both the WJQ Part I: Job Description and Part 11: Job Questionnaire which will be completed by the supervisor.

8. Following ratification and approval of the Memorandum of Agreement, re-evaluations of existing positions will be conducted only under the WJQ (Custom) system. Implementation of the results of the re-evaluations will be consistent with the intent behind overall WJQ implementation as outlined in points 1. through 3. above.

The new language for 17.01 through 17.09 from the 1992-94 Memorandum of Agreement will replace the current 17.01 through 17.09 in the collective agreement. In addition, this Letter of Agreement which will be appended to the collective agreement as Appendix D will be referenced in Article 17.

- 9. When the results of WJQ (Custom) have been fully implemented as outlined in point number 2. above, the current classification system of job evaluation will be completely discontinued and all positions in the bargaining unit will be evaluated using WJQ (Custom) only. Note: Temporary evaluations under WJQ will continue to be handled in accordance with the second paragraph under point number 7 above.
- 10. Appendix A of the current collective agreement will be amended by removing the level designations for the current classifications. Following ratification and approval of the Memorandum of Agreement, the current classification position titles in Appendix A will be reviewed by a committee of two (2) persons appointed by each party with the objective of more appropriately defining and describing the types of jobs within the

workplace. This committee shall make its report to the parties within sixty (60) calendar days of the date of ratification. Any recommendations arising out of their report must be ratified by the parties. Each party will submit the recommendations to its respective principals within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of the report.

- 11. The Letters of Agreement on Language Allowance, Scientific Technicians Allowance, and Industrial First Aid Attendant Premiums will terminate when the Memorandum of Agreement comes into effect. However, an employee who is receiving an allowance or premium under one of these Letters of Agreement on the day before this Memorandum of Agreement comes into effect will be eligible to continue to receive her/his salary on the former salary grid plus the allowance or premium provided that the employee and her/his position continue to satisfy all of the other terms and conditions which were contained in the original applicable Letter of Agreement. Such employees shall continue to receive the allowance or premium in addition to their salary on the former salary grid until such time as the salary which the employee would otherwise be entitled to receive under the WJQ implementation plan exceeds the salary which the employee is receiving on the old salary grid plus the premium or allowance.
- 12. The parties agree that the **WJQ** (Custom) job evaluation system used by the parties to evaluate positions shall not be amended or changed in anyway except by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 13. If the Provincial Government does not approve the WJQ (Custom) job evaluation system and results for pay equity funding, the parties will meet to negotiate a new or revised plan for the distribution of the pay equity funds.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect March 16, 1995 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX E

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The following general item <u>was</u> included in the Memorandum of Agreement (i.e. collective agreement settlement package) which was signed by the parties on January 10, 1995 <u>and remains in effect.</u>

APSA Job Descriptions

The University will send the Union copies of all job postings for APSA positions. The Union will be given access to the job descriptions for APSA positions upon two (2) weeks notice to Jo-Anne Hallam, Manager, Compensation. The notice must include a list of the position descriptions to be reviewed.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
Date	Date

<u>Note:</u> Came into effect March 16, 1995 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX F (NEW)

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY (THE UNIVERSITY)

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, CUPE 3338 (THE UNION)

Committee on Deferred Salary Leave Plan

The parties agree to strike a comm<u>ittee to examine the concept of a Deferred Salary Leave Plan. This committee shall consist of two (2) persons appointed by the Union and two (2) persons appointed by the University.</u>

The committee shall report their findings and any recommendation to their respective principals, within one hundred and eighty (180) days of ratification.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler
August 19, 1997	August 19, 1997
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX G (NEW) LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The parties agree without prejudice or precedent to jointly review the positions outlined in the attached appendix 1 within one hundred and twenty (120)days of signing this letter of agreement to determine if any of the positions in appendix 1 fall within the scope of the bargaining unit as certified by the Labour Relations Board.

In the event the parties are unable to reach agreement on any position the determination shall be referred to one of the named umpires, (Stephen Kelleher, John Kinzie or Stan Lanyon) on the basis of availability. The umpire will attempt to mediate an agreement, and failing agreement he shall establish procedures for a fair hearing of the parties' positions. The process will be governed by Section 103 of the Labour Relations Code as outlined in Article 10.02(e) of the collective agreement. Any written recommendations from the umpire will resolve the differences.

Where a position is determined to be within the scope of the bargaining unit and there is an incumbent in the position, the incumbent shall have the option of remaining outside the bargaining unit or joining the bargaining unit within ten (10) working days of written notification. Where the incumbent elects to join the bargaining unit she/he shall have seniority calculated in accordance with the collective agreement.

Where there is no incumbent, the position shall be posted and filled in accordance with the collective agreement.

It is also agreed that the parties shall consult APSA and allow APSA the opportunity to make a written submission to the umpire on any position they believe is outside the scope of the union's certification.

The patties shall each pay one half (1/2) of the fees and expenses of the umpire which are not paid by the Minister of Finance and Corporate Relations.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler
November 17, 1997	November 17, 1997
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect December23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX 1

Department	Position Number	Position Title
Art Gallery	#6719	Gallery Registrar
Academic Computing Srv.	30516 30734	System Consultant 2 System Consultant 2
plus the position the employer interposition #77009 (see letter dated	ends on creating of Oct. 29, 1997)	out of the CUPE technician
Cntre for System Sc.	31043	Network System Analyst
Appl Sc. Dean's Office	00032	Coord Applied Sc. Prog
E. Indo Univ. Devel. Prog.	62102 62300	Admin. Assistant Proj. Fellowship Coordinator
Gerontology	00258	Assist. to Director
Registrars	31474	Manager, Tech Support
IMC	00978 06693	Manager, Graphics Admin. Supervisor
Library	00923 30413	Supervisor, Loans Supervisor, General Loans
	06743 06744	Manager, Bldg/Equip Manager, Photocopy
Residence & Housing	06618	Residence & Housing Coordinator
	64167	Residence & Fac. Administrator
	64168	Assistant Director Res. Life
	64169	Assistant Director
	64232	Business Affairs Assistant Director Guest Accommodations
Dean of Science	00101	Assistant to Dean

APPENDIX H (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

Dental Plan

The parties agree without prejudice or precedent that for a period of two (2) months commencing on the date of ratification of this letter of agreement, continuing employees who were eligible for dental plan coverage but elected not to join the plan will be allowed to apply to the dental plan. Any employees who join the dental plan during the period must also enroll their dependents at the time of joining. For the first twelve (12) months of coverage under the dental plan such employees and their dependents will not be eligible for any coverage under Parts B and C. Accordingly, employees and their dependents will not submit any claims during the first twelve (12) months to the Dental Plan carrier either directly or through their dentists for work which falls under Parts B and C.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler
September 18, 1997	September 18, 1997
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX I (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The parties agree to establish an Absenteeism Review Committee within thirty (30) days of the ratification of a new Collective Agreement.

The Committee shall have equal representation from the Union and the University (not more than three (3) from each).

The mandate of this Committee shall be to review the University's current Absentee Program and to submit recommendations for changes or improvements to the Program to the Labour Management Committee for such action as is considered appropriate.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION	
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler	
October 23 , 1997	October 23 , 1997	
Date	Date	

<u>Note:</u> Came into effect December **23**, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local **3338** membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX J (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The parties agree without prejudice or precedent that the following provisions will be deemed to be included in the Collective Agreement once the Union has obtained written confirmation from the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Commissioner that to do so will not be a violation of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

The University agrees to provide such information to the Union as is reasonably necessary for the Union to fulfill its obligation pursuant to the Collective Agreement, the Labour Relations Code and other relevant legislation. It is understood that where such information identifies or is identified with an individual employee(s) she/he shall be notified of the request for information by the Union at the time the Union requests the information from the University.

It is also understood that the above language will only be in effect if an employee has refused to sign a release allowing the University to provide the information to the Union.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler
October 30, 1997	October 30, 1997
Date	Date

<u>Note:</u> Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX K (NEW)

This Appendix will be in effect from December 23, 1997 to and including March 31, 1999.

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

MEMORANDUM

To: President, Vice-Presidents, Deans

ce-Presidents, Deans Supervisors, and all From: Bill Yule, Director of Personnel

Directors, all Supervisors, and all Employees concerned with the AUCE

Local 2 Collective Agreement

Date: February 4, 1981

Subject: Short Term Inter and Intra Departmental Transfers

The University and the Union have agreed without prejudice to allow continuing employees in one department to apply for posted temporary vacancies in another department. The home department has the right to consider whether they can accommodate the temporary absence. This proposal will be reviewed after six (6) months to consider the impact that this potentially higher mobility may have had on employees and departments.

In the past, many employees have enjoyed "Intra Departmental" Transfers via a temporary promotion to fill in for an absent co-worker or to get a new function off the ground, etc. Employees in smaller departments have not been as able to participate in new work assignments and to expose themselves to new learning situations. For this reason, we have agreed to consider granting employees temporary absences from their continuing positions to assume a temporary vacancy in another department. This in effect will be an "Inter Departmental" Transfer.

The specifics of this proposal are reprinted on the reverse of this memorandum so that all staff may be informed. Any enquires should be directed to Alan Jones, Recruiter (4333).

February 4, 1981

CONTINUING EMPLOYEES AND TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS

Where a temporary vacancy has been posted, an employee in a continuing position may apply to be considered for the vacancy.

At the time the employee makes application for such a temporary vacancy, the immediate (current) supervisor must be advised of her/his intentions. The department, using reasonable judgement, may grant or deny the employee the opportunity to be temporarily absent from her/his continuing position, along the following guidelines:

- 1. The department can accommodate the temporary absence. (The department should consider whether they will need to obtain a replacement for the temporary absence, or can distribute the duties among other staff members. Where the department will gain a direct benefit as a result of the training/exposure gained by the employee during the temporary absence, that should also be taken into consideration.)
- 2. The employee is not serving an initial probation or trial period and/or is not under any "period of warning".

NOTE: The department cannot deny such an employee the opportunity to take on such a temporary assignment if she/he has been chosen. The department must decide whether or not the employee will retain her/his continuing position during the assignment.

Addendum: Without prejudice or precedent, for the duration of this appendix "using reasonable judgment, may grant or deny..." will be translated to mean "...will not unreasonably deny...".

APPENDIX L (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

Hours of Work

The parties agree without prejudice or precedent that alternate hours of work arrangements outside of those contemplated in the Collective Agreement shall be considered by the parties during the term of this Collective Agreement.

Where an employee and a supervisor develop an alternate hours of work arrangement it shall be submitted to the University and the Union for consideration. Where the University and the Union agree, such arrangement may be implemented on a trial basis by letter of agreement. All necessary variances to the regular provisions of the collective agreement shall be included in such letter.

It is understood that such trial period may be extended by mutual agreement or cancelled by either party with thirty (30) days written notice.

It is also understood and agreed that the withholding of agreement to an arrangement or decision to terminate an arrangement is not subject to grievance or arbitration.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler
October 30, 1997	October 30, 1997
Date	Date
Note: Came into effect September 15, 3	1998.

EOD mys INITEDOUS

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

Article 51.06

The parties agree to meet within thirty (30) days of the ratification of this Agreement to revise Article 51.06 to ensure that the net pay an employee receives while absent from work on an approved claim will be neither more nor less than the net pay the employee would have received had she/he not been absent due to the compensable illness or injury.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION	
W.A. Yule	Mike Dumler	
October 30, 1997	October 30, 1997	
Date	Date	

<u>Note:</u> Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX N (NEW)

The following general items were included in the Memorandum of Agreement (i.e. collective agreement settlement package) which was signed by the parties on November 24, 1997.

WJO Full Implementation

Effective December 31, 1997 all employees who have not reached their WJQ target salary will be moved to the appropriate step and grade on the WJQ Target Salary Schedule. Employees who occupy positions which are identified as anomalies as a result of WJQ evaluations will maintain the status as described in point 3 of Appendix D of the current collective agreement.

Lump Sum Productivity Adjustment

All continuing employees, except those employees who have gained continuing status in a temporary position, who are on payroll on the date of ratification of this agreement by the Union membership or approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors, whichever occurs last, and continue to be on payroll as a continuing employee on March 31, 1998 shall receive a lump sum productivity adjustment on April 24, 1998. The lump sum productivity adjustment shall be one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) for eligible employees with continuing full-time status on the date of ratification or approval referred to above. Eligible continuing part-time employees shall receive a prorated portion of the one hundred and fifty dollar (\$150.00) lump sum productivity adjustment based on the normal biweekly hours of work at the time of ratification or approval referred to above.

A continuing employee who is on Maternity Leave, Parental Leave, or Extended Leave on March 31, 1998, shall receive the lump sum productivity adjustment following her/his return to work in her/his continuing position. The amount of the productivity adjustment shall be based on the normal hours of work immediately following her/his return from the leave (i.e. \$150.00 for full-time and prorated for part-time).

Employees who are on unpaid sick leave or Long Term Disability on the date of ratification or approval, whichever occurs last, and/or on March 31, 1998 are not eligible for the lump sum productivity adjustment.

Effective March 31, 1999 a productivity increase will be incorporated into the wage rates by increasing all rates of pay in

effect on November 30, 1997 in Appendix A-1 and D (i.e. WJQ Target Salary Scale) by one percent (1%).

Extended Health Benefits Plan

Effective the first of the month following the revision to Article **51.06** as outlined in Appendix M of this collective agreement, eligible expenses under the Extended Health Benefits Plan will include hearing aid reimbursement to a maximum payable of four hundred dollars (\$400) per member or dependent in any sixty (60) month period.

Note: Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX O (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338

The parties agree to resolve WJQ concerns based on the following:

- 1. It is recognized that re-evaluation requests and/or new position evaluations include Part I (Job Description) and Part II (Job Questionnaire).
- 2. Copies of employee initiated re-evaluation requests will be given to the Union and University concurrently.
- **3.** When a re-evaluation is initiated, disputes arising from supervisor approved Part I Job Descriptions will be resolved by the Job Description Committee before job re-evaluation is concluded.
- 4. Employee disagreements in supervisor approved PartII: Job Questionnaire responses will be adjudicated by the Joint Re-Evaluation Appeal Committee after job re-evaluation has been concluded.
- 5. The Parties, by mutual agreement, can amalgamate or amend third party avenues for resolution (contained in Articles 15.02 (c) and 17.09 (d) [which can be either a job evaluation umpire, a fifthperson, etc.]

The Joint Sub-Bargaining Committee to be charged with drafting proposed revisions/amendments based on the foregoing, within 90 days of ratification. Where agreement is not reached, outstanding issues shall be submitted to binding mediation. The **Mediator shall** use the above points as a basis for mediation resolution.

It is further agreed that upon full implementation of job evaluation, and resolution of the foregoing, appropriate amendments will be made to Appendix D.

Dated this 25 day of November, 1997

ON BI	EHALF OF THE UNIVERSITY	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION
<u>W.A. Y</u>	<u>rule</u>	John Bannister
Note:	Came into effect December 23,	1997 following ratification by th

ON DELLA LE OF THE LINEVEDCITY — ON DELLA LE OF THE LINEON

Note: Came into effect December 23, 1997 following ratification by the CUPE, Local 3338 membership and approval by the Employee Relations Committee of the Board of Governors.

APPENDIX P (NEW)

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY (THE UNIVERSITY)

AND

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3338 (THE UNION)

The parties agree that the following appeal process will be available to any employee who is eligible for Long Term Disability Insurance and who is informed by Manulife Financial that his/her application for Long Term Disability Benefits is denied or that the Long Term Disability Benefits which she/he has been receiving from Manulife Financial will be terminated because she/he is not totally disabled.

Within thirty (30) working days from the date of the letter from a Manulife Financial representativewhich informs an employee that Long Term Disability benefits are denied or will be terminated because the employee is not totally disabled, the employee may apply in writing to appeal the decision of Manulife Financial. The written application to appeal must be made on the standard form and must be accompanied by a standard written release which is signed by the employee and which allows Manulife Financial and Simon Fraser University to provide all related documentation to the physician who will be reviewing the appeal. The appeal and release forms must be provided to the Director, Human Resources at SFU and copies must be provided to the Manulife Financial representative and the Business Agent for CUPE, Local 3338 within the time limit specified above. The Director, Human Resources will contact Dr. Neva Bonita Hilliard's office within three (3)working days of receipt of the application to appeal and will ask that office to arrange an appointment for the employee with Dr. Hilliard within two (2) weeks from the date of contact. If Dr. Hilliard is not available within two (2) weeks, then Dr. Hilliard's office to arrange an appointment for the employee within the two (2) weeks, office weeks

Dr. Hilliard or her replacement will meet with the employee and may conduct a physical examination, require laboratory tests, refer the employee to a specialist, consult with the employee's family physician, and/or obtain additional information regarding the employee's education, training, and experience. Following a review of all of the information provided through Manulife Financial and Simon Fraser University as well as information obtained directly, Dr. Hilliard or her replacement will make a final and binding decision on whether the employee is totally disabled as defined in the Long Term Disability Benefit Plan Document between Simon Fraser University and Manulife Financial Limited as follows:

"Totally disabled employee: an employee who is wholly and continuously disabled due-to illness or accidental bodily injury and, as a result, is unable to perform the duties of his normal occupation or the duties of any occupation for which he is fitted by education, training or experience."

Dr. Hilliard or her replacement will provide a decision on whether the employee is totally disabled in writing to the employee, the Director, Human

Resources at SFU, Manulife Financial, and the Business Agent for CUPE, Local 3338. If Dr. Hilliard or her replacement decides that the employee is totally disabled, then the written decision will include reasons for the decision and will identify the date when the employee became totally disabled.

Dr. Hilliard or her replacement will provide a detailed invoice of her/hls total fees and related expenses to the University and to the Union. The University and the Union will each pay one half (1/2) of the total fees and expenses.

If additional relevant medical information becomes available within thirty (30) working days from the date of the letter regarding the decision of Manulife Financial, but prior to an application to appeal the decision, the employee must provide the additional medical information to Manulife Financial within the thirty (30) working days for further consideration of the employee's application or claim prior to making application to appeal. Manulife Financial will review the additional medical information and will notify the employee of their decision on the application or claim within fifteen (15) working days following receipt of the additional medical information. The deadline to appeal will be extended until thirty (30) working days following the date of the letter from a Manulife Financial representative outlining the decision of Manulife Financialfollowing the review of the additional medical information.

This agreement will be in effect for a period of one (1) year from the date of signing and from year to year thereafter, unless one of the parties to this agreement serves notice to terminate this agreement on it's anniversary date. Notice must be served in writing to the other party a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days prior to the anniversary date which will be the date of termination.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION
Janine Lauer	John Bannister
May 1, 1998	April 30, 1998
Date	Date

Note: Came into effect May 1, 1998.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTY OF THE FIRST PART HAS HEREUNTO AFFIXED ITS SEAL IN THE PRESENCE OF **ITS** OFFICERS DULY AUTHORIZED THEREFORE, AND THE PARTY OF THE SECOND PART HAS HEREUNTO AFFIXED ITS SIGNATURES BY **ITS** OFFICERS DULY **AUTHORIZED THEREFORE**.

DATED AT 1 9

, British Columbia, this day of

PARTY OF THE **FIRST** PART

PARTY OF THE SECONDPART

Chair of the Board Board of Governors Geoff Barnes President, C.U.P.E., Local 3338

Roger Ward Vice-president Finance & Administration Mike Dumler CUPE National Representative

W.A. Yule Director, Human Resources John Bannister Business Agent

Fiona Brady Chair Contract Committee

Susan Recksiedler Member Contract Committee

Marilyn Lamont Member Contract Committee

Athena Roussinos Member Contract Committee

Stephen Glassel Member Contract Committee

Vincent Todd Member Contract Committee

Lynne Fowler Member Contract Committee

John Simmer Member Contract Committee

Tali Smith Member Contract Committee

INDEX

Absence, Chronic 52
Absence, Long Term 53
Access to University Premises 7
Accident Insurance, Travel 66
Accrual and Maintenance of Seniority 20 Adverse Reports 9
Agreement, Purpose of 1
Agreement, Terms of 72 Agreement, Purpose of 1
Agreement, Terms of 72
Amendment to Agreement 72
Annual Vacations 48
Appointments, Senate or Board of Governors 60
APSA Job Descriptions 86
APSA Positions Review 88
Arbitration 15
Arbitration Expenses 15
Arbitration, Expedited 15
Arbitration, Notice to Proceed to 14
Arbitration, Standard 15
Article Headings 66
Attendance at University Functions 37
Authorization for Checkoff 5
Banking of Vacations 49
Benefit Plans 67
Benefit Statements 71
Benefits, Maternity/Parental Leave 57
Bereavement, Definition 58
Bereavement, Employee Eligibility 58
Biweekly Period, Definition 2
Bonding 35
Bulletin Boards 6
Calendar Year, Definition 48
Call Out, Cancellation 42
Call Out, Definition 41
Campus Mail 6
Canada Pension Plan 69
Car Pools 45
Casual Illness 51
Change of Domicile 59
Change, Technological 63
Changes During Duration of Agreement 72 Change, Technological 63
Changes During Duration of Agreement 72 Checkoff of Union Dues 5 Civil Suit 59 Closure, Official 48 Clothing, Protective 63 Coffee Breaks 46 Committee, Joint Benefits 70 Communications, Union 6 Compassionate Leave 58 Compassionate Leave 58
Compassionate Leave, Employee Eligibility 58
Compensating Time Off for Late Overtime 42
Consecutive Days Off 44
Continuing Employee, Definition 1
Continuous Work Day, Overtime 41
Contract Negotiations, Time Off for 8
Contracting Out 36
Court Duty 59
Court Proceedings Against an Employee 59 Court Proceedings Against an Employee 59

Current Employees, Membership Requirements 2 Day Care 58

Day, Definition 2 Days Off 44

Deduction of Dues 5
Deferred Salary Leave Pian Committee 87
Deferred Vacation 49
Definition, Biweekly Period 2
Definition, Call Out 41
Definition, Continuing Employee 1
Definition, Day 2
Definition, Demotion 23
Definition, Employees 1
Definition, Full-Time Employee 2
Definition, Involuntary Transfer 26
Definition, Laid Offe 26 Definition, Laid **Off 26** Definition, Layoff 26
Definition, Modified Work Week 39 Definition, Month 2 Definition, Overtime 41
Definition, Part-Time Employee 2
Definition, Probationary Period 25 Definition, Recall 26 Definition, Seniority 19 Definition, Standard Work Day 39 Definition, Standard Work Day 39
Definition, Standard Work Week 39
Definition, Technological Change 64
Definition, Temporary Employee 1
Definition, Union Representatives3
Definition, Week 2
Demotion, Definition 23
Demotion, Definition 23
Dematl Appointments 53
Dental Pian 68, 90
Development 37
Discipline, Satisfactory Evidence 19
Discrimination 8
Dues, Deduction of 5
Duration of Agreement 72
Elections 59 Elections 59 Employee and Family Assistance Plan 71
Employee Training and Development 37
Employees who Instruct 44
Employment Equity 11 Employment Insurance 70 Employment Priority 21 Equipment, Protective Clothing 63
Equipment, Purchase and Maintenance 61 Escort Arrangements 45 Examinations, Medical 52
Executive Contacting Members at Work 6 Expenses, Travel 66
Extended Absence 52 Extended Health Benefits Plan 67, 98 Extended Leave Without Pay, Continuance of Benefits 61
Extended Leave Without Pay, Paid Holiday During 61
Extended Leave Without Pay, Reimbursement of Benefits 61
Extension Leave Without Pay, Reimbursement of Benefits 61 Facilities, Use of 36 Financial information 72 Food Services 37 General Holidays 46

Graduate Program Fees 38
Grievance Definition 12
Grievance Form 79

```
Grievance Procedure 11
Grievance Procedure, Po
Grievance Procedure, St
G I/I t st i 37
H: 9
 G In t sti 37
H. 9
Holidays Falling Within Vacations, Compensation for 50
Holidays, Definitions 46
Holidays, Definitions 46
Holidays, Definitions 46
Holidays, Definition or 47
Holidays, P 47
Holidays, P 47
Holidays, Mor or 47

                                                                                                             22
          FER
                                                                                                                    ıti
     July 1 September 20 July 1 September 20 July 2 September 20 July 2
 Ji 3 5
Labour/Management Committee 11
Laid f List, Maintenance on 29
Laid f Procedure 26
L ff No 28
L iff Defi in !!
Layoff, Notice of Intent to 26
L ɛ f Ak f U Office, Long Term 7
L 1 as t 58
L i de f Pay 60
L i, nit 56
   Leave, Personal, Without Pay 60

3 3, 1 of Term for Union Business 7

Ly Sick 51
                                              h of Leave,
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  arental 56
                                              ty Insurance 71
                                           ry Cards 36
                                of Paid Holidays 46
                                                              m Absence, Return to W Following 54
     Long Term Absences 53
                                                         1 Disability 69
 Lounges 37
 M Fa-U Time 37
                                                                                           it the University 11
 M: na
 M st
                                                                                                                                      t 70
 M te y Leave (
                                                         y or Parental Leave for Continuing Part-time Employees 58
                                                           y/l | Leave 5.
 Meal
Meal Periods, 'aid and Unpaid in Overtime 42
```

Medical and Dental Appointments 53
Medical Examinations and Certificates 52
Medical Service Plan 67
Meetings, Paid Time Off 6
Membership Requirements, Current Employees 2
Membership Requirements, New Employees 3
Modified Work Week - Definition 39
Modified Work Week - Proposals 40
Modified Work Week - Proposals 40
Modified Work Week - Proposals 40

Modified Work Week Joint Committee 40 Month, Definition 2

Month, Definition 2
Moving Day 59
New Employee Information Meetings 6
New Employees, Membership Requirements3
New Equipment or Software 38
Notice of Absence 52
Notice of Intent to Layoff 26
Notice of Intent, Technological Change 64
Notice of Recall 29
Notice of Resignation 19
Notice or Pay in Lieu 17

Notice or Pay in Lieu 17
Notice to Employee, Technological Change 64

Notice, Laid-Off26
Notification by the University3
Notification, Union Representatives3

Notification, Union Representatives 3
Off Campus Duty 66
Official University Closure 48
Overtime, Definition 41
Overtime, Rate of Compensation 41
Overtime, Scheduled 41
Overtime, Voluntary 42
Parental Leave 56
Particle 45

Parental Leave 56
Parking 45
Parking Spaces 45
Part-Time Employee 2
Part-Time Employee, Definition 2
Pay in Lieu, Termination 17
Paycheques, Vacation 50
Payment of Wages and Wage Rates 71
Pension Plans 69
Parsonal Leave Without Pay 60

Pension Plans 69
Personal Leave Without Pay 60
Personal Rights Protected 9
Personnel Files, Access to 9
Picket Lines, Conditions for Illness or Injury 5
Picket Lines, CUPE Authorized 4
Picket Lines, Essential Services 5

Picket Lines, Insured Benefit Premiums4

Picket Lines, Observation No Breach 4
Picket Lines, Other Bona Fide 4
Policy Grievance Procedure 13

Postings 22

Probationary Employees, Termination 18 Probationary Period, Definition 25 Progressive Discipline 17

Promotion, Definition 23
Promotion, Salary Adjustment 23

Protective Clothing and Equipment 63
Public Transportation 45

Purchase and Maintenance of Furniture and Equipment 61

Purpose of Agreement 1 Quarantine 53

Re-evaluation Appeal Procedure 35

Re-evaluation Appeals 34 Re-evaluation, Anomalies 35

Re-evaluation, Definition 32 Re-evaluation, Documents Distribution 33 Re-evaluation, Employee Eligibility 35 Re-evaluation, No Probationary Period 34 Re-evaluation, Notification of Disposition 33

Re-evaluation, Notification of Disposition33
Re-evaluation, Requests for 33
Re-evaluation, Salary Increase 34
Re-evaluation, Salary Increase Retroactive 34
Re-evaluation, When Appropriate 32
Re-evaluation, WJQ (Custom) and Pay Equity 35
Recall, Definition 26

Recall, Notice of 29 Recalled Employee, Salary of 29 Reclassification32

Reclassification32
Recognition, Union 2
Recognition, Union Representatives 3
Record of Employment9
Reductions in the Workforce 5
Reimbursement Following Return to Work, Maternity/Parental Leave 58
Reinstatement, Termination 19
Relief Periods 46
Religious Helidaya, Additional Page 47

Religious Holidays, Additional Days 47
Repair or Replacement of DamagedClothing 63
ReportingAllowance for Part-Time Employees 44

Resignation, Definition 17
Resignation, Notice of 19
Retirement, Vacation Pay on 50

Retraining, Involuntary Transfer and Layoff 65
Retroactive Settlements, Grievance Procedure 15

Return to Work Following Long Term Absence 54
Return to Work, Maternity/Parental Leave 57

Safety and Working Conditions 61
Salary Adjustment, Promotion23
Salary Grades and Classifications73
Salary of Recalled Employee 29

Salary on InvoluntaryTransfer 28
Salary Schedules 71

Scheduling Regular Shifts 45
Senate or Board of Governors Appointments 60
Seniority Lists 21
Seniority Restored 21

Seniority, Accrual and Maintenance 20 Seniority, Computation of 20 Seniority, Definition 19

Seniority, Loss of 21

Severance Pay and Layoff 65

Sexual Harassment 9

Sexual Harassment, Definition 10 Shift Cancellation, Temporary Part-Time Employee 44

Shift Definitions 43 Shift Schedules 43

Shifts and Shift Differentials43

Shitts and Shitt Differentials43
Sick Leave 51
Sick Leave During Vacation 50
Sick Leave, Chronic Absence 52
Sick Leave, Claim for Benefit 52
Slck Leave, Employee Eligibility 53
Sick Leave, Entitlement 51
Sick Leave, Maternity/Parental Leave 57
Sick Leave, Medical Examinations and Certificates 52
Sick Leave, Notice of Absence 52

Sick Leave, Notice of Absence 52

Sick Leave, Seniority 51 Split Shifts 43

Standard Grievance Procedure 13 Standard Work Day, Definition 39 Standard Work Week, Definition 39 Standard Work Week, I Standby Time 42 Statutory Holidays 46 Stoppage, No Work 12 Subrogation 55 Suspension 17 Technological Change 63 Technological Change 63
Technological Change, Consultation 64
Technological Change, Definition 64
Technological Change, Notice of Intent 64
Technological Change, Notice to Employee 65
Technological Change, Purpose 63
Technological Change, Retraining, Involuntary Transfer and Layoff 65
Technological Change, Severance Pay and Layoff 65
Temporary Employee Benefits and Pay in Lieu of Benefits 71 Temporary Employee, Definition 1 Temporary Employees, Termination 18 Temporary Employment, Registration 21 Temporary Promotion, Definition 23
Termination 17 Termination 17
Termination, Definition17
Termination, Notice or Pay in Lieu 17
Termination, Notice or Pay in Lieu 17
Termination, Probationary Employees 18
Termination, Reinstatement19
Termination, Satisfactory Evidence 19
Termination, Temporary Employees 18
Termination, Wages 19
Terms of the Agreement 72
Time Between Shifts 44
Time Limits, Grievance Procedure 13
Time Off for Contract Negotiations8
Time Off to Attend, Grievance Procedures 14
Training and Development 37 Training and Development37
Transfer 24 Travel Accident Insurance 66 Travel Expenses 66 Trial Period, Definition25
Tuition Waiver 38 Tuition Waiver, Employee Eligibility 39 Union Business 6 Union Communications 6 Union Dues 5 Union Meetings 8 Union Office 8 Union Recognition 2 Union Representatives, Limitation 3 Union Representatives, Notification 3 Union Representatives, Recognition3 Union Representatives, Responsibility 3 Union Representatives, Time Off 3 Union Requests for Information 92 Union Security 2 Union Security 2
Union/University Relations 6
University Food Services Committee 37
University Pension Plan 69
University Safety Committee 62
Unsafe Conditions 62
Vacancies 24

Vacancies 21

Vacation After Resignation Notice 19

Vacation Entitlement for the First Incomplete Year 48

Vacation Flexibility 49
Vacation Pay on Retirement 50
Vacation Paycheques 50
Vacation Schedule for Subsequent Years 48
Vacation Schedule, Posting of 49
Vacation Scheduling, Conflicts 50
Vacation, Employee Entitlement 51
Vacation, Loss of Seniority 51
Vacation, Loss of Seniority 51
Vacation, Sick Leave During 50
Video Display Terminals 62
Wage Schedules 71
Week, Definition 2
Witness or Jury Duty 59
WJQ Concerns 99
WJQ Concerns 99
WJQ Custom 81
WJQ, Full Implementation 97
Work on a Paid Holiday 47
Work, No Stoppage 12
Workers' Compensation 70, 96
Workers' Compensation Board Standards 61
Workforce, Reductions in 5
Working Conditions 61
Written Warnings 9, 17
Year-End Statement of Members' Dues Deduction 6

118